

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification

Abdulrasak, Mohammed

2020

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Abdulrasak, M. (2020). EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification

MOHAMMED ABDULRASAK FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





## FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:29 ISBN 978-91-7619-889-6 ISSN 1652-8220



EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification

# EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification

Mohammed Abdulrasak



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

By due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended on the 18th March, 2020.

*Faculty opponent* Professor Hence Verhagen Erasmus University Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Department of clinical sciences, Malmö Vascular Center, Skåne University Hospital	Date of issue 18th March, 2020
Author: Mohammed Abdulrasak	Sponsoring organization

#### Title and subtitle:

EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification

#### Abstract

#### Background

Endovasvular aortic repair (EVAR) is the most commonly utilised technique for the treatment of abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAA) in tertiary referral centers. Detailed long-term outcomes of this technique are relatively scarce, especially for patients presenting symptomatically with AAA. Intra-operatively, proximal type Ia endoleak, involving blood circulating into the AAA – due to poor proximal seal of the endograft to the aortic neck region – is a feared complication which is usually promptly treated, given its association with post-operative AAA expansion and rupture. Aneurysmatic disease is usually considered a progressive pathology with potential for progression to areas of the aorta beyond the known aneurysmatic segment. Arterial calcifications are established as a marker for atherosclerosis, yet the association of ilio-femoral calcification with post-operative mortality after EVAR is not known.

#### Aims

- 1. Evaluate the long-term results of EVAR of AAA using a single endograft
- 2. Compare the early and late results of EVAR of symptomatically presenting patients to those treated asymptomatically
- 3. Study the long-term results of intra-operative treatment of type Ia endoleak using large, balloonexpandable stents
- 4. Study the progression of aortic disease for patients treated with endovascular means in the postoperative period
- 5. Assess the novel ilio-femoral calcium score as a potential predictor for overall and cardiac-specific mortality after EVAR

#### Results

EVAR of AAA yields sustainable results in the long-term, for both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. There is  $\approx$  x4 elevated early mortality in symptomatic patients as compared to asymptomatic ones. Intra-operative treatment of type Ia endoleaks using large, balloon-expandable stents should be reserved to patients treated acutely with EVAR. Aortic expansion beyond the sealing zone is relatively uncommon, and seems related to the force exerted on the aortic wall by the endograft. Ilio-femoral calcium score may predict long-term overall and cardiac mortality after EVAR, albeit the relation is weak. Therefore, further studies are needed to establish this association.

Key words: abdominal aortic aneurvsm.	Endovascular aortic repair.	ilio-femoral calcium score.	type la endoleak
····,			

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)					
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English			
ISSN and key title: 1652-8220		ISBN: 978-91-7619-889-6			
Recipient's notes Number of pages 73		Price			
	Security classification				

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature MAN

Date 2020-02-06

# EVAR of AAA: Long term outcomes, disease progression and risk stratification

Mohammed Abdulrasak



Coverphoto by H.Abdulrasak, representing an artistic illustration of an aneurysm rupture

Copyright pp 1-73 (Mohammed Abdulrasak)

Paper 1 © Elsevier

Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 3 © Elsevier

Paper 4 <sup>©</sup> by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Paper 5 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine, Doctoral Dissertation Series 2020:29 Department of clinical sciences, Malmö Vascular Center, Skåne University Hospital

ISBN 978-91-7619-889-6 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2020



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN 📲

وَفَوْقَ كُلِّ ذِي عِلْمٍ عَلِيمُ

But over every possessor of knowledge is the All-knower The holy Quran, Yusuf, verse 76

Dedicated to my parents

# Contents

Abbreviations	10
List of papers	11
Introduction	13
AAA: diagnosis and repair outcomes	13
Progression of aneurysmatic disease	18
Risk stratification	19
Thesis objectives	23
Aims of the thesis	25
Materials and methods	27
General methods applicable to all projects	27
Specific methods for projects	27
Results	35
Project 1 and 2	35
Project 3	41
Project 4	43
Project 5	47
Discussion	49
Long-term EVAR outcomes	49
Disease progression	51
Risk stratification	52
Limitations	53
Conclusions	55
Future perspectives	57
Acknowledgements	59
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	61
References	63

## Abbreviations

(r)AAA	(ruptured) abdominal aortic aneurysm		
(F)EVAR	(Fenestrated) Endovascular aortic repair		
IBD	iliac branched device		
CTA	computed tomography angiography		
CT/TC	Celiac trunk (used interchangeably)		
SMA	Superior mesenteric artery		
RRA	Right renal artery		
LRA	Left renal artery		
PTFE	Polytetrafluoroethylene		
BESG	balloon expandable stentgraft		
SESG	Self expanding stentgraft		
EVAS	EndoVascular Aneurysm Sealing		
OR	Open repair		
AD	aortic neck dilatation		
IFU	instructions for use		
RCT	randomised controlled trial		
KM	Kaplan – Meier (curves)		

### List of papers

- 1. Abdulrasak M, Sonesson B, Singh B, Resch T, Dias NV. Long-term outcomes of infrarenal endovascular aneurysm repair with a commercially available stent graft. Journal of vascular surgery. 2019. *In press*
- 2. Abdulrasak M, Sonesson B, Vaccarino R, Singh B, Resch T, Dias NV. EVAR for symptomatic AAAs has comparable results to elective repair in the long-term. *Submitted manuscript*
- 3. Abdulrasak M, Resch T, Sonesson B, Holst J, Kristmundsson T, Dias NV. The Long-term Durability of Intra-operatively Placed Palmaz Stents for the Treatment of Type Ia Endoleaks After EVAR of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery. 2017;53(1):69-76.
- **4.** Abdulrasak M, Sonesson B, Resch T, Dias NV. Fate of visceral and supravisceral aortic segment after EVAR and FEVAR. *In manuscript*
- Vaccarino R\*, Abdulrasak M\*, Resch T, Edsfeldt A, Sonesson B, Dias NV Low Ilio-femoral Calcium Score may predict higher survival after EVAR and FEVAR. *Submitted manuscript*.
  \*Equal contribution

# Introduction

### AAA: diagnosis and repair outcomes

#### Etymology and short anatomical preface

The word aorta originates from the ancient Greek word *aorté*, meaning "the arteries originating from the heart",<sup>1</sup> while the word aneurysm originates in the Greek words "aneurunein" (widen out) and "aneurusma" (dilatation).<sup>2</sup>

An aortic aneurysm is a dilatation of the aorta involving the three layers comprising the vessel wall (tunica intima; media and adventitia).<sup>3</sup> These are mainly due to degenerative process of the vessel wall, and less commonly due to infectious or inflammatory processes. The most common location for the development of an aortic aneurysm is infrarenally.<sup>4</sup> Aortic aneurysms are defined, size-wise, either as a dilatation  $\geq 30$  mm or  $\geq x1.5$  increase in diameter relative to the normal aortic diameter, suprarenally.<sup>5</sup> The prevalence of AAAs in the population is variable, reported to be at around  $1.5 - 8 \%^{6-8}$  depending on the age of participants and location of the study performed.

#### **Establishing of AAA Diagnosis**

Given the generally indolent nature of aneurysmatic disease, clinical diagnosis is challenging. Diagnosing by abdominal palpation has low sensitivity and specificity, especially when performed by inexperienced physicians.<sup>9</sup> Incidental diagnosis through abdominal X-Rays is possible, through e.g rim calcification.<sup>10</sup> However, this is of low specificity as well. The increased use of computed tomography angiography (CTA) has made the establishment of the diagnosis easier, given the  $\approx$  100% sensitivity,<sup>11,12</sup> especially if done with intravenous contrast administration. This provides good quality imaging especially for operative decision making.<sup>13</sup> However, CT is associated with high doses of radiation,<sup>14</sup> along with risk of renal impairment when contrast administration occurs,<sup>15</sup> make CT unsuitable for population screening. Ultrasound (US) has > 90% sensitivity and specificity for AAA diagnosis<sup>16</sup> and, albeit being dependent on both user experience and patient-related factors (mainly abdominal gaseous distension and adiposity),<sup>17</sup> it is a good method for screening given the speed it can be performed.<sup>18</sup>

In spite of AAAs being generally silent,<sup>19</sup> there can be dramatic presentations involving abdominal pain, back or flank pain, and groin pains.<sup>20</sup> These symptoms arise due to pressure causing irritation of the abdominal musculature and associated nervous structures. If the AAA ruptures, these symptoms may be accentuated due to blood causing additional irritation, alongside the exsanguination causing hypotension, syncope and death.<sup>21</sup>

#### **Treatment options**

#### Open repair

Several "open" methods were used to treat aortic aneurysms. These involved, amongst others, "wire-induced" thrombosing of aneurysmal clot formation,<sup>22</sup> "wrapping" the aneurysm with various materials (cellophane, polyethene plastic)<sup>23</sup> and simple ligation of the aorta after rupture.<sup>24</sup> Endoaneurysmorrhaphy,<sup>25</sup> a technique employed during the the first portion of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, involving opening the aneurysmal sac and approximating it to a normal lumen size, was also employed. Afterwards, developments towards aneurysmal resection where replacement with native material (e.g autologous femoral vein)<sup>26</sup> and, ultimately, synthetic (polyester or PTFE; Polytetrafluoroethylene)<sup>27,28</sup> sutured inside the aortic sac, where the aortic sac is left in situ surrounding the synthetic "tube".

The current standard of care, when it comes to open repair (OR)<sup>29</sup> of an infrarenal AAA, in short, involves the exposure of the retroperitoneum either through a midline, transverse or retroperitoneal incision. Afterwards clamps are placed proximally infrarenally (or suprarenally in more complex repairs) and distally at the level of the common iliac vessels, the aortic sac is then opened, whereby a synthetic tube graft is sutured proximally close to the lowest renal artery, and distally to the aortic bifurcation. Afterwards the clamps are removed, the aneurysmal sac is sutured around the tube graft, and the abdomen closed (Figure 1, inset).



#### Endovascular repair

Endovascular repair (EVAR) was established in the Ukraine by Nicholay Volodos in 1987 through repair of a thoracic aortic aneurysm,<sup>30</sup> with its popularisation through the work of Juan Parodi<sup>31</sup> and his travels to the United States to perform EVAR cases there. The main principle of EVAR (figure 2, inset) is to introduce (usually through the common femoral artery in the groin) a stentgraft, made of (usually) synthetic fabric and metallic supporting "skeleton", into the aorta to divert the flow of blood from the inside of the aneurysm wall into a more laminar flow through the introduced endograft, thereby depressurizing the aneurysm and potentially causing aneurysm to regress in size, essentially decreasing the risk for AAA rupture.<sup>32</sup> Several designs and materials are used to attain durable repair, with grafts aneurvsm that have fenestrations (FEVAR) or branches to accommodate for complex (thoracoabdominal and juxtrarenal) aneurysms<sup>33</sup> involving visceral vessels.



#### Endografts and imaging

A stentgraft requires proximal and distal anchoring. This may be achieved through the action of rigid, balloon-expandable stentgrafts (BESG) fixating the seal, or through the action of self-expandable stentgrafts (SESG).<sup>34</sup> Most of the currentgeneration endografts are SESGs. Endografts are usually sized larger than the aortic neck, so called "oversizing".<sup>35</sup> This is done to ensure improved graft conformability to the aortic neck. Oversizing is recommended to 10 - 20 % and in some studies < 30 %. Insufficient oversizing yields poor seal with elevated risk for type I endoleak, while excessive oversizing may be associated with aneurysm expansion, albeit aortic neck dilatation was not observed.<sup>36</sup>

Apart from the standard EVAR grafts, the concept of EVAS (EndoVascular Aneurysm Sealing) emerged in later years. Such concept uses polymer filled "endobags" with embedded grafts to allow for blood flow. Mid-term results suggest high rates of type I endoleaks, AAA enlargement and rupture for patients treated using this concept.<sup>37</sup>

Imaging, both pre-operatively for procedural planning and for the sake of followup, is an integral part of the EVAR process. High resolution CTA<sup>38</sup> is the most commonly used imaging modality for EVAR planning, given the ease and speed at which imaging is acquired. In addition, a high degree of 3D-postprocessing is available through different computer software, thus aiding graft choice and intraoperative graft placement. For the sake of follow-up, US is usually used in standard infrarenal repair, while CTA is the main modality used for complex repairs, to screen for complications such as progressive branch thrombosis.<sup>39</sup>

#### Open vs EVAR outcomes

Open repair has been compared to EVAR (for AAA-treatment) in 4 trials, EVAR-1  $(UK)^{40}$ , DREAM (Netherlands)<sup>41</sup>, ACE (France)<sup>42</sup> and OVER (USA)<sup>43</sup>. The main results from these trials were the superiority of EVAR versus open repair with regards to early (up to about 3 years) post-operative survival. This survival advantage is however lost after this period. AAA-related mortality in the late (>8 years post-operatively) was higher in the EVAR group (except in the OVER trial, no difference), especially with regards to late aneurysm rupture. The rate of post-operative interventions was also higher in the EVAR group as compared to open repair in these trials, albeit the absolute majority of these interventions are amendable through procedures under local anaesthesia. A problematic aspect with regards to the aforementioned trials is the usage of older-generation endografts, where a higher rate of device-associated failures were present compared to current devices. In addition, higher degree of inexperience was present during the previous trials, given that relative infancy of EVAR at the early stage the trials were initiated.

#### Long-term Open repair vs EVAR complications

Open repair, as with other open abdominal procedures, is associated with higher

peri-operative mortality<sup>44</sup> than EVAR, mainly secondary to the intra-operative "stress" associated with the procedure. Postoperatively, however, open repair is associated, amongst others, with incisional hernias,<sup>45</sup> risk for bowel obstruction due to adherences<sup>46</sup> and (rarely) potential of aortoenteric fistula<sup>47</sup> formation.

On the other hand, EVAR is associated with some specific complications. One potential problem with EVAR is migration,<sup>48</sup> where the stentgraft may move (usually caudally) due to poor seal proximally. Blood coming into an endovascularly excluded aneurysm, namely "endoleak", is another complication.<sup>49</sup> There are three main types of endoleaks, where types I and III are the most clinically relevant. Type I endoleak (*figure 3*, inset, A) is



associated with poor seal proximally (type Ia) or distally (type Ib) endoleak. Type III (C) endoelaks occur due to separation of graft components (type IIIa) or fabric damage (type IIIb) causing blood to enter the aneurysm sac. Both these endoleaks occur at a high pressure and are associated with aneurysmal expansion and rupture. Type II endoleak (B), due to "back-bleeding" of (often) lumbar or inferior mesenteric arteries, is of lower pressure perfusion and is rarely associated with adverse outcomes. Type IV endoleak (D) occur due to porosity of graft wall material, causing bleeding through the graft material into the aneurysm sac. Endotension (type V endoleak) involves AAA expansion without demonstrable cause.

Limb thrombosis, where stentgraft limbs occlude, is yet another complication,<sup>50,51</sup> which may need urgent intervention (thrombolysis, re-stenting) depending on the presenting symptoms. As with OR, EVAR is also associated with a small risk of post-operative graft infection and the potential for fistula formation.<sup>52</sup>

#### Type Ia endoleaks

This type of endoleaks occur due to poor proximal sealing of the graft to the aortic wall,<sup>53</sup> causing circulation of the aortic sac and expansion.<sup>54</sup> Risk factors for developing type I endoleaks include short aortic neck,<sup>55</sup> increased tortuosity and thrombus-ridden aortic neck.<sup>56</sup> This may be discovered intra-operatively, or during follow-up.<sup>57</sup>

Intra-operative treatment of the type Ia endoleak may involve, initially, the proximal ballooning (and re-ballooning) of the upmost graft portion to ensure increased seal and conformity of the used stentgraft to the aortic neck.<sup>58</sup> If this does not yield ceasing of the endoleak, use of large bare-metal stents,<sup>60,61</sup> proximal cuffs<sup>62,63</sup> and endoanchors<sup>64,65</sup> may be justified. In select cases, observation of the type Ia endoleak may be justified with early follow-up imaging, with deferral of corrective procedure based on the outcome of the conservative approach.<sup>66</sup>



Figure 4 – Intra-operative type Ia endoleak (arrow), treated by insertion of a Palmaz<sup>™</sup> stent (Palmaz P4014; Cordis, Miami Lakes, FL, USA)

Late treatment, when the endoleak is found during the follow-up, may involve the aforementioned techniques in combination and/or selectively. In addition, custom-made fenestrated/branched cuffs<sup>67,68</sup> incorporating visceral vessels may be of use to ensure increased seal. Endoanchors, mentioned previously, may also be employed in the late treatment of type Ia endoleak Embolisation of aneurysmal sac with liquid/metallic materials<sup>69</sup> may also be employed, albeit with questionable results and efficacy. Open methods of treatment, such as aortic neck banding,<sup>70</sup> or frank open conversion<sup>71</sup> with the explanation of the stentgraft and insertion of tube/aortobifemoral graft, may be utilized.

### Progression of aneurysmatic disease

Given the experimental theories regarding the generation of aortic aneurysms (e.g with regards to increased metalloprotease activity),<sup>72</sup> the presence of a general "degenerative" and "aneurysmatic" tendency within other arterial walls, included of the supra- and infra-aneurysmatic segments, is expected. This partially provides the theoretical basis for strong association of AAAs with other aneurysmatic pathologies.<sup>73-75</sup>



Figure 5 – aortic diameter at first (A) post-operative CTA versus last (B) CTA, measured at 15 mm below lowest renal artery

Aortic neck dilatation (AD) has been reported after both OR and EVAR. In OR, expansion at a rate of  $\approx 0.2 - 0.6$  mm/year has been reported, in up to a third of treated patients.<sup>76,77</sup> This however carried little clinical relevance.<sup>78</sup> In contrast, AD seems to be more prevalent among patients treated with EVAR, where rates of 1 –

2 mm/year of expansion have been reported in certain studies,<sup>79</sup> with higher expansion rates occurring after EVAR for rAAAs.<sup>80</sup> This translates to around 20 – 45  $\%^{81-83}$  of all treated patients having some expansion of the neck region. The expansion was more common with regards to patients receiving EVAR with SESG, and not present in patients with BESG.<sup>84,85</sup> The aforementioned expansion has been partially attributed to stentgraft oversizing. Such AD in EVAR patients – commonly studied at renal vessels and infrarenally yet rarely at visceral segment – has been associated with poor post-operative outcomes, with special regards to graft migration, endoleaks formation and post-operative re-interventions.<sup>86,87</sup> Some studies have also suggested an association of AAA sac expansion with increased, concomitant aortic neck dilatation, albeit this finding is not universal.

The reporting standards<sup>88</sup> have proposed some guidelines with regards to standardisation of aortic neck measurements, with the cornerstones being that any diameter changes should be compared to the first post-operative control, and should be presented in an actuarial (life-table) analyses, with time to event and percentage of subjects were event occurred is clearly presented, very few studies abide by these requirements. Both absolute (most often > 2 - 3 mm expansion) and percentage expansions (usually > 20 % diameter) have been utilised. A large proportion of studies that have been performed in this regard have compared the dilatation to the pre-operative measurements. Yet another drawback with the available studies assessing AD post-EVAR is the irregular usage of "measurement markers", whereby some studies used absolute anatomical landmarks (e.g the lowest renal artery), some have utilised aspects of the graft (e.g gold-markers symbolising start of graft; first visible part of graft strut) as a set-point for measurements.

### **Risk stratification**

#### "Operative" risk stratification

Patients undergoing AAA repair are usually high-risk individuals,<sup>89</sup> given the presence of a multitude of co-morbid conditions relating to (amongst other factors) cigarette smoking, a well-known risk factor for the development of AAAs. This entails elevated operative risk.<sup>90</sup>

A frequently used risk stratification system for the peri-operative risk of surgery is the American society of anaesthesia (ASA) classification.<sup>91</sup> This, however, is a general system that does not pertain to the potential differences posed in different surgical disciplines given its broad applications.<sup>92</sup> The Goldman index,<sup>93</sup> predicting cardiac-related mortality in non-cardiac surgery, is a more specific system, yet it does not consider the type surgical intervention performed.

One of the first "aneurysm-surgery specific" indices was the Hardman index (HI).<sup>94</sup> This consisted of 5 variables (age (> 76 years), creatinine (> 190 umol/L), loss of consciousness after arrival, Hb ( < 90 g/L), and ECG changes consistent with myocardial ischemia, and was constructed to stratify patients presenting with rAAA to those where surgery could provide a benefit, versus those where operative mortality is too abhorrent to undertake a surgical approach. Other scores with similar goal to the HI include the Vancouver Score (VS),<sup>95</sup> Glasgow Aneurysm score (GAS)<sup>96</sup> and the Edinburgh ruptured aneurysm score (ERAS).<sup>97</sup> These scores have been shown to somewhat underestimate operative mortality, suggesting questionable clinical use.<sup>98,99</sup>

Cardiac risk factors, such as the presence of pre-operative congestive heart failure have constituted major predictors for post-operative mortality and major adverse cardiac events (MACE) in both vascular and non-vascular surgical procedures.<sup>100,101</sup> This is partially highlighted by the aforementioned risk scores which all have cardiac risk factors included in their calculations, along with the presence of major cardiovascular comorbidities in the patients treated for AAAs.

#### "Imaging-based" stratification

With regards to patients treated with EVAR, being within the instructions for use (IFU) for a stentgraft is one of the first "imaging" considerations with regards to predicting potential operative outcomes. Being within the IFU, generally speaking, entails long aortic neck, presence of parallel aortic walls, along with absence of extensive thrombus. The specific measurements are manufacturer specific (table 1).

Table 1 -Anatomical criteria for some types of stentgrafts commonly used in infrarenal EVAR(Retrieved from the respective company)

Anatomical criterion	Excluder	Zenith	Talent	Endurant II
CFA diameter (mm)	≥ 8	≥ 8	≥ 8	≥ 8
CIA length (mm)	≥ 10	≥ 10	≥ 15	≥ 15
CIA Diameter (mm)	8 – 18.5	7.5 – 20	8 – 22	8 – 25
Neck length (mm)	≥ 15	≥ 15	≥ 10	≥ 10
Neck diameter (mm)	19 – 29	18 – 28	13 – 32	19 – 32
Neck angle (°)	≤ 60	≤ 60	≤ 60	≤ 60

Conflicting reports exist with regards to IFU as a predictor of EVAR outcomes, however there is a tendency towards worse long-term outcomes<sup>102</sup> with regards to higher rates of type Ia endoleaks and re-interventions,<sup>103-105</sup> in patients treated outside the IFU. However, overall survival remains unaffected<sup>106</sup> compared to patients with favourable anatomy, according to available evidence.

Another "imaging consideration" with regards to outcomes is the size of aneurysm to be treated. Smaller aneurysm are associated with lower peri-operative and long-term mortality in contrary to large aneurysms. On the other hand, large aneurysms are associated with higher reinterventions and mortality.<sup>107-109</sup>

#### Vascular calcification and Calcium (agatston) score

Coronary calcification implies the presence of atherosclerotic process<sup>110</sup> in these vessels. Such calcifications may be found post-mortem during an autopsy,<sup>111</sup> or through imaging studies<sup>112</sup>. This has long been associated with ischemic heart disease, given the fact that vascular calcification implies intimal disease with subsequent risk for vascular plaque formation and rupture.<sup>113,114</sup>

A formalised assessment of calcifications present in the coronary vasculature was presented by Agatston<sup>115</sup>, whereby a score of the available calcification in the coronary vessels, derived through non-contrast CT acquisition, was proposed. This is calculated through assignment of a "factor number" to any lesion  $\geq 130$  Housefield units (HU) (130–199 HU = 1; 200–299 HU = factor 2; 300–399 HU = 3; and  $\geq 400$  HU = 4). These factor numbers are then multiplied by the area of the lesion specified in mm<sup>3</sup>, whereby a sum value for each coronary artery and then, finally, the patient, is calculated in Agatston units (AU). This coronary artery calcium (CAC) score is a predictor of both coronary events<sup>116-118</sup> in populations with cardiovascular risk, and overall mortality in both high and low-risk populations.<sup>119-121</sup> CAC is currently the number one screening method for coronary artery disease in low to medium risk populations, given the high sensitivity and specificity it provides along with the ease of acquisition of the images and the virtually absent influence of patient factors (e.g poor exercise tolerance, obesity) on the results obtained <sup>122</sup>

The applications of the arterial calcifications have also found place outside the field of cardiology, both as estimation of calcification burden on plain radiographs<sup>123-125</sup> and usage of non-contrast CT to assess for presence of vascular calcification in aortic and iliac vasculature.<sup>126-128</sup> In the aforementioned vascular beds, elevated calcification was associated with increased mortality. There has been studies associating iliac calcifications with mortality and renal function outcomes in patients undergoing renal transplantation, given the operative anastomoses of graft renal artery to the hosts' iliac circulation.<sup>128</sup>

# Thesis objectives

EVAR treatment of AAAs is well established, and increasingly popular in Western Europe, for both elective and ruptured cases.<sup>129,130</sup> The outcomes are well reported, with several advantageous key points with regards to EVAR, such as relatively low operative mortality. However, the post-operative re-intervention rate is higher for EVAR, therefore it is necessary to have detailed outcomes. Previous reports, such as those earlier cited in the comparative RCTs, have been during a time at which the EVAR technique was still in its relative infancy, therefore there was a potential for relative inexperience amongst those operators which may have affected the EVAR outcomes negatively. Another potential bias with regards to the aforementioned trials is the fact that the first generation stentgrafts used in those trials are now obsolete, with many improvements likely yielding better outcomes in the newer generation of stentgrafts. Yet another difference is the usage of EVAR technique in increasingly younger patients, therefore making the need for more improved treatment longevity a necessity. Therefore, **project 1** was used to give a thorough account of relevant outcomes, all of which in patients treated for asymptomatic, non-ruptured infrarenal AAAs with a single stentgraft at our vascular referral centre.

A subgroup of patients undergoing EVAR for AAA which has been somewhat understudied are the patients presenting symptomatically yet without radiographic or clinical signs of aneurysmal rupture. These patients are usually treated semiurgently within 24 hours of presentation, therefore often not well examined with regards to underlying pre-operative co-morbidities, along with the possible for undermined pre-operative stentgraft planning and thus a hypothetically less befitting endovascular repair anatomically, with the potential post-operative complications (e.g type Ia endoleak and overall increased re-interventions rate) and – in the worst case, aneurysm rupture – related to those treated outside of anatomical restrictions for EVAR. This made **project 2** a springboard for having an elaborative description of the same outcomes reported in project 1, yet with infrarenal AAA patients presenting symptomatically; along with a direct comparison to the "reference group" of asymptomatic cases that project 1 entailed. All the patients in this project were treated in our center, with the same stentgraft system, therefore potentially reducing selection bias.

Type Ia endoleaks are a major cause of EVAR failure and post-operative rupture. These are generally treated aggressively whether they are discovered intraoperatively or during post-operative follow-up. One of the most common methods for treatment is usage of balloon expandable stents to increase proximal seal of the stentgraft to the aortic neck. Therefore, **project 3** was intended to study the effect of intra-operative placement of Palmaz<sup>TM</sup> stents for patients treated for infrarenal AAAs, who had an intra-operative type Ia endoleak discovered during angiography. This was for both treatment specific outcomes (e.g type Ia endoleak recurrence) and for general outcomes of treatment success (e.g clinical success).

Aneurysmatic disease is generally described as a progressive disease, therefore the increased likelihood of developing other aneurysms in patient with index aortic aneurysm. Therefore, **project 4** was aimed to study the fate of treated and non-treated segments of the aorta in patients treated for abdominal aneurysms, using both EVAR and FEVAR.

Several methods for operative risk stratification have been formulated. Arterial calcification has been hypothesised to be a means of estimating cardiovascular related mortality as mentioned earlier. Therefore **project 5** was utilised to explore potential association of ilio-femoral calcification with overall and cardiac-specific mortality, using a standardised method (Agatston method), in patients undergoing EVAR and FEVAR with available pre-operative CT.

# Aims of the thesis

The general aim of this thesis was to assess the long-term outcomes of EVAR for infrarenal AAA, specifically with regards to intra-operative outcomes, clinical success and survival. Further aims include the assessment of risk stratification after EVAR using the novel ilio-femoral calcium score, and assessment of aneurysmatic disease progression.

The specific aims of the thesis were:

- **Project 1** To assess the long-term outcomes of elective infrarenal EVAR with regards to long-term survival, re-intervention rates, clinical success, causes for post-operative failure and aneurysm-related mortality, amongst other outcomes
- **Project 2** To establish the outcomes of infrarenal EVAR in patients presenting symptomatically but without signs of rupture, and compare them to the reference group of asymptomatically treated patients presented in project 1
- **Project 3** To evaluate the outcomes with regards to intra-operatively detected and treated type Ia endoleak, using a commonly used method of placement of large, balloon expandable stents (Palmaz<sup>TM</sup> stent) in patients undergoing infrarenal EVAR, irrespective of their initial presentation (asymptomatic, symptomatic or ruptured), along with an overview of anatomical changes of the aortic neck during follow-up
- **Project 4** To scrutinize the progression of aneurysmatic disease after infrarenal EVAR and FEVAR during the post-operative follow-up period, with regards to the sealing zone, visceral and supra-visceral aortic segments
- **Project 5** To investigate the usage of novel marker of ilio-femoral calcification for patients who have underwent infrarenal EVAR and FEVAR, and assess its potential as a marker for assessing post-operative survival in general and, more specifically, cardiac mortality

# Materials and methods

### General methods applicable to all projects

All the projects within this thesis were ethically approved by the regional ethics committee (Nr 2014/732). Given the retrospective nature of the projects in this thesis, patient consent was waivered.

All the patients included in the aforementioned projects were treated with endovascular means at the index procedure for AAA, at the vascular center in Skåne University hospital, Malmö. The general period for inclusion was within the years 1998 – 2012. The patients were retrospectively included and identified through local patient database, with the subsequent review of available patient files mainly through the local electronic charting system along with, in few cases, usage of paper charts for patients treated in the early part of the study. Available pre- and postoperative imaging was assessed through the local PACS (picture archiving and communication system) software. Intra-operative angiographies and available reports, both for the pre-, intra- and post-operative imaging, were reviewed. Radiology reports were reviewed especially when available imaging was not available due to the archiving of the non-digital imaging. In our center, a shift towards digital imaging occurred around year 2004, making availability of imaging somewhat inconsistent for parts of the thesis.

For all the projects included in the thesis, non-normal distribution was assumed and therefore non-parametric tests were used for the purpose of statistical analyses.

### Specific methods for projects

#### Projects 1, 2 and 3

All patients operated for infrarenal EVAR for AAAs using the Cook-Zenith<sup>TM</sup> stentgraft system (other grafts as well for project 3), during the years 1998 - 2012, were consecutively included in the study. Project 1 included patients treated for asymptomatic AAA, while project 2 included both patients presenting asymptomatically and symptomatically (but without aneurysm rupture).

Where available, pre-operative CTAs were analysed to assess for pre-treatment aneurysm diameter and neck length (both in mm). The majority of CTAs were at reconstructions with 0.75 - 5 mm apart. Neck length was estimated using the difference between the table position at the start of the aneurysm and the level at which the lowest renal artery is at. Other anatomical aspects, such as aortic neck shape and angulation, were not assessed given the inability to perform three-dimensional (3D) reconstructions for patients with non-digital CTA imaging.

Having neck length  $\geq 15$  mm was considered being within the IFU. Aneurysmal diameter was estimated by measuring the diameter perpendicular to the long axis to avoid potential overestimations. CTAs were also assessed for signs of rupture for the purpose of exclusion. Pre-operative patient characteristics were collected through chart review, mainly with regards to co-morbidities.

Immediate outcomes, as per the reporting standards, with regards to technical success and 30-day mortality were collected and analysed. The causes for 30-day mortality were registered. Intra-operative adjunctive procedure were registered and reported according to their cause (for project 1). The following causes were used for the sake of intra-operative adjuncts' classification:

- *Proximal seal related*: generally due to proximal (type Ia) endoleak and poor intra-operative seal
- *Distal related*: due to either distal endoleaks (type Ib/III) and/or distal limb issues or access related procedure. This included both open and endovascular adjuncts.
- *Renal artery related*: Due to concomitant renal stenosis and/or intraoperative renal complications during EVAR requiring treatment
- *Type II Endoleak*: usually embolization of back-bleeding vessels (e.g lumbar arteries or inferior mesenteric artery)



Figure 6 - Zenith Flex system (A, courtesy of Cook), and completion angiography (B) in a patient with successful implantation

Post-operative outcomes were also recorded, from both available charts and imaging. All imaging available in the post-operative period, whether within follow-up programme for EVAR (Ultrasound and/or CTAs) and outside of it, were analysed for AAA-related outcomes. This was done to ensure long follow-up. Serial AAA diameters were measured, with clinically significant expansion entailing  $\geq 5$  mm diameter increase. In addition, available imaging was assessed for the presence of endoleaks, mainly types I/III, and stentgraft migration; the latter of which considered significant when > 10 mm migration occurred, measured from lowest renal artery to first visible portion of the top-stent on the CTA.



Figure 7- aortic diameter at AAA at 1-month (A), 1-year (B) and last (8 years post-operatively, C) CTA

Post-operatively, clinical success was assessed, as detailed in the reporting standards. Briefly, this entails the absence of post-operative AAA expansion, type I/III endoleak, stentgraft dysfunction and migration. When follow-up was mainly done through ultrasound, absence of significant AAA expansion was used as a marker of clinical success. Clinical success was presented as primary success in the case of no re-interventions were required; primary assisted success in cases where an endovascular re-intervention was needed to achieve success status (e.g post-operative type II endoleak embolization or distal limb re-lining through re-stenting); secondary clinical success was achieved in the cases requiring open re-interventions (e.g sacotomy for post-operative AAA-infection with intact stentgraft left in place). In the cases where the re-interventions were a failure, clinical failure would ensue. In addition, patients who were considered unfit for a re-intervention, or where the magnitude of "clinical failure" (As per the reporting standards) was considered "de facto" clinically irrelevant to justify a re-intervention, clinical failure was registered. The aforementioned decisions were left at the discretion of attending physician.

Open conversions for any reason involving the explantation of parts or the entire stentgraft was considered a clinical failure. Late (or persistent) clinical failure were the main outcome measure when assessing clinical failure.

In the cases where post-operative re-interventions were used, causes for this were recorded, along with type of re-intervention required. In the cases where post-operative AAA-related mortality occurred, the cause of this was recorded. The Swedish mortality registry, along with available patient files, were used to derive the cause of death for included patients.

Life-table analyses were used to assess for the following outcomes: freedom from type I/III endoleaks, freedom from re-interventions, clinical success, overall mortality and freedom from late-AAA-related mortality. The tables were formulated in Kaplan – Meier (KM) format for visual illustration, where rate  $\pm$  standard error (in %) were presented. A subsection of *project 1 and 2* was allocated to compare outcomes based on being of favourable versus those of unfavourable anatomy. In the cases where survival outcomes required comparison, this was done through the log-rank test. Comparative analyses were used extensively in *project 2* to compare primarily both short- and long-term differences between symptomatic and asymptomatic patients. Statistical analyses were performed in IBM SPSS package (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA; ver.23 for *project 1*, ver.25 for *project 2* and ver.22 for *project 3*).

Apart from the aforementioned aspects with regards to clinical success and endoleak freedom (specifically type Ia endoleak freedom), *project 3* also entailed the analyses of anatomical changes of the aortic neck in the post-operative period. Specifically, measurements (in mm) of the aorta at the celiac trunk (CT), superior mesenteric artery (SMA), lowest renal artery and 9 mm below that were performed on the available pre-operative, 1<sup>st</sup>- and last post-operative CTA. Diameter increase  $\geq 4$  mm at each level of comparison was considered significant. AAA diameter increase  $\geq 5$  mm was considered significant. In addition, measurements of the stentgraft diameter and the Palmaz stent diameter, along with migration, were assessed, respectively. Comparison of relevant outcomes between the elective and acute (ruptured and symptomatic) cases was undertaken, both for entire patient cohort ("crude" rates), and only including those surviving  $\geq 90$  days post-operatively, i.e "relative rates".

#### Project 4

All patients undergoing EVAR or FEVAR for AAA between years 2004 - 2007 were included. This was done to ensure adequately long CTA follow-up, especially for patients treated with EVAR. Only patients with overall clinical success, and without post-operative re-interventions, with high quality imaging ( $\leq 3$  mm) were included in the study. Patients with short post-operative follow-up (< 24 months post-operatively) were excluded.

Follow-up was structured differently for patients undergoing standard infrarenal EVAR versus those undergoing complex EVAR, i.e FEVAR or EVAR with IBD (iliac branched devices). Put simply, infrarenal EVAR follow-up constituted of yearly CTA up to year 2010, where follow-up was instead re-structured to ultrasound scans at specific intervals. Complex repairs had a CTA at 1 months post-operatively, and yearly thereafter.

CTAs were exported to a 3D-workstation (iNtuition, TeraRecon, San Mateo, CA, USA), whereby a centreline with orthogonal reconstructions was created to avoid overestimation of aortic diameter in tortuous portions of the aorta, thereafter the maximum diameter was measured. Measurements of the aortic diameter (mm) were made at the following anatomical levels of the aorta: 5 cm over CT, at CT, at SMA, at right renal artery (RRA), left renal artery (LRA), then 5-, 10-, and 15-mm below the lowest renal artery. The aforementioned measurements were made on the pre-operative CTA along with every CTA done post-operatively done for the sake of follow-up.



Figure 8 – programme interface for centreline generation with the "outstretched" aortic view

The pre-operative CTA was used to assess the aortic neck through measurement of aortic neck length, being the distance between lowest renal artery and aneurysm start, specifically where aortic diameter > 32 mm. Aortic neck conicity was determined by increase > 2 mm in aortic neck diameter for 10 mm of aortic neck length. Being within the IFU (for patients undergoing infrarenal EVAR) was assessed on the basis of the following:

- 1. Absence of aortic neck conicity
- 2. Neck length  $\geq$  15 mm
- 3. Neck diameter  $\leq$  32 mm

The presence of neck thrombus, calcification or severe angulation was not assessed.

Oversizing of the proximal portion of the stentgraft was performed in relation to the diameter of the native aorta at the level of the lowest renal artery such that:

 $oversizing \ in \ \% = \frac{nominal \ SG \ diameter \ - \ diameter \ at \ lowest \ renal \ artery}{diameter \ at \ lowest \ renal \ artery} \ x \ 100$ 

Two groups with regards to oversizing were therefore created, one with  $\leq 30$  % and the other with > 30 % oversizing, respectively. This was done based on earlier studies<sup>35</sup> demonstrating that > 30 % oversizing is associated with increased graft migration and AAA expansion.

Anatomical comparisons were divided into "early" and "late" changes. Changes such that dilatation between pre-operative CTA (reference for "early" changes) and 1-year follow-up CTA was deemed "early", while "late" changes entailed expansion as compared to the 1-year follow up CTA (reference for "late" changes). An increase in diameter of  $\geq 4$  mm compared to the reference was considered as significant expansion in the actuarial analyses.

Life-table analyses (with KM-Curves) were used to assess for late expansion. Comparisons of population characteristics were done using non-parametric methods, whereby Fisher's exact test was used for categorical variables (e.g early expansion), while Kurskal-Wallis was used for the continuous variables. SPSS ver.25 was used for the analyses.

### Project 5

All patients treated for AAA using EVAR and FEVAR techniques during the years 2004 – 2012 with pre-operative non-contrast CT imaging series available, and surviving beyond the first 30-postoperative days, were retrospectively included. Patients were excluded in the cases of absent non-contrast imaging and/or exclusively contrast-enhanced pre-operative CTAs being present, earlier ilio-femoral stenting or the presence of hip arthroplasty. The two latter causes of exclusion were mainly performed due to potential of artefacts making calcium score measurements difficult to perform without errors.

Available charts were reviewed to assess for the presence of pre-operative comorbidities e.g pre-operative ischemic heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and peripheral arterial disease (PAD), along with smoking status. The patients' pre-operative medications were assessed with regards to the usage of anti-platelet agents (e.g ASA or ADP-receptor blockers), statins, beta-blockers, Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I), other blood pressure medications and anticoagulants (warfarin or New Oral Anticoagulants, NOAC). Mortality was acquired through both available patient files and the Swedish mortality register. Cardiac mortality, due to coronary ischemic event, was especially assessed for and collected.

Pre-operative CT scans of thickness 3-5 mm between the slices were included. These were performed with 16-64 detector row spiral CT-scanners, with tube settings 80 - 120 kVP/20 mAs. Anatomical landmarks of jugulum sterni / diaphragm to the femoral minor trochanter were used to be the limits of image acquirement, to ensure the inclusion of the arterial segments up to and including the bifurcation of the common femoral artery.

Images were imported to a dedicated post-processing software (iNtuition, TeraRecon, San Mateo, CA, USA). This was done to calculate the Agatston calcium score, whereby the software identifies structures > 130 HU and gives them a yellow colour. Manual marking of arterial calcifications present in the common iliac artery, external iliac artery and common femoral artery bilaterally was performed on each slice. The software thereby added the calcium score of each segment and a final calcium score in AU was obtained.



Figure 9 – yellow colour indicating presence of calcium with attenuation > 130 HU, with arrows showing calcifications in the common iliac arteries bilaterally.
Patients were stratified according to being within the lowest quartile of ilio-femoral calcium score (Q1), versus those with calcium score in the second through fourth quartiles (Q2-4), with results of both pre-operative characteristics, overall survival and cardiac mortality being compared in this fashion. Life-table analyses (with KM-curves) were constructed for both overall and cardiac mortality based on the aforementioned stratification. In addition, univariate logistic regression was used to assess if the calcium score would retain significance for prediction of both overall mortality and cardiac mortality, when placed in a regression model involving other pre-operative patient characteristics. Cox (multivariate) regression analyses was planned if the calcium score retained significance in the univariate model. SPSS ver.23 was used for the aforementioned analyses.

### Results

### Project 1 and 2

#### General population characteristics

Some 1250 patients treated for an aneurysm were identified at our center through local registries, during the period 1998 – 2012, of which 680 (54.4 %) were treated for an infrarenal, non-ruptured AAA treated with the Cook-Zenith stentgraft system. The majority (543 (79.9 %)) were asymptomatic while 137 (20.1 %) were symptomatic (of which abdominal pain (109 (76.2 %))) at presentation. Both populations were comparable, except in regards to higher creatinine (p = 0.001) and presence of COPD (p = 0.049) in asymptomatic versus symptomatic cases (table 2). Pre-operative AAA diameter was somewhat smaller in asymptomatic cases versus symptomatic AAAs (p = 0.082).

Group	Asymptomatic (N= 543)	Symptomatic (N= 137)	p-value
Characteristics			
Gender (Male)	476 (87.7 %)	119 (86.9 %)	0.774
Age at operation (Years)	69 (74 – 79)	69 (74 – 79)	0.923
AAA diameter (mm)	58 (53 - 66 )	61 (52 – 73)	0.082
Hypertension	453 (83.4 %)	111 (81.0 %)	0.526
Hyperlipidemia	150 (27.6 %)	30 (21.9 %)	0.194
Diabetes	86 (15.8 %)	22 (16.1 %)	1.000
Active smokers	203 (37.4 %)	56 (40.9 %)	0.460
COPD	174 (32.0 %)	32 (23.4 %)	0.049
Cardiac disease	275 (50.6 %)	67 (48.9 %)	0.774
Creatinine (µmol/L)	97 (83 – 121)	90 (77 – 107)	0.001

Table 2 – General patient characteristics for asymptomatic and symptomatic cases

Intra-operatively, asymptomatic patients (N = 282; 51.9 % of asymptomatic) received one or more of a multitude of potential adjuncts. The main indication for an intra-operative adjunctive procedures (178 adjuncts) was due to ilio-femoral causes, e.g extra stent placement in the limb for improved configuration. Proximal seal-related adjuncts (97 adjuncts) were also indicated, and were more common

(used in 48/199 vs 49/344 patients; p = 0.001) in the initial part of the experience. The remaining intra-operative adjuncts are detailed in table 3

Reason for Intraoperative adjunct	Frequency and percentage (N, %)
Proximal seal-related	97 (26.6)
Distal related procedures	178 (48.9)
Endovascular	131 (36.0)
Open	47 (12.9)
Renal artery related	67 (18.4)
Type II Endoleak	22 (6.0)

Table 3 - intra-operative adjuncts used in asymptomatic patients

Technical failure occurred in 21 (3.9 %) asymptomatic versus 7 (5.1 %) symptomatic patients (p = 0.477). the most common cause for this was the presence of uncorrected type Ia endoleak (N = 13 in asymptomatic and N = 6 in symptomatic group). In the symptomatic group, the majority (N = 99; 72.3 %) had symptom resolution post-operatively, 2 (1.5 %) had continued pain and for 36 (26.3 %) patients the information was not discernible from available charts. Thirty-day mortality occurred less commonly (p = 0.002) in asymptomatic (N = 8; 1.5 %) versus symptomatic (N = 9; 6.6 %).

#### Post-operative re-interventions and endoleak freedom

For both groups, the most common post-operative re-intervention was due to distal causes, specifically related to iliac stenosis/occlusion or femoral access. There were no differences (p > 0.05; table 4) between asymptomatic and symptomatic cases with regards to re-interventions. In the asymptomatic group, with regards to early re-interventions, 15 (8.2 %) were due to distal causes, 5 (2.7 %) renal-artery related and 2 (1.1 %) related to bowel-ischemia. While within the symptomatic group, all (4 (8.9 %)) of the early re-interventions were due to distal causes. At 10-years post-operatively, freedom from re-interventions (figure 10) was 72  $\pm$  3 % and 73  $\pm$  5 % (p = 0.785) for asymptomatic and symptomatic patients, respectively.

Table 4 - post-operative re-interventions in both asymptomatic and symptomatic cases

Group	Asymptomatic	Symptomatic	p-value
Reason for re-intervention			
Total number- re-interventions	182	45	0.663
Early (within 30-days) (%)	22 (12.1 %)	4 (8.9 %)	0.661
Late (% )	160 (87.9 %)	41 (91.1 %)	0.808
Proximal Re-interventions			
Type I (a) endoleak related (%)	13 (7.1 %)	3 (6.7 %)	0.588
Proximal-related (% )	13 (7.1 %)	3 (6.7 %)	0.888
Type II endoleak related (% )	30 (16.5 %)	9 (20.0 %)	0.947
Distal-related (%)	97 (53.3 %)	23 (51.1 %)	0.291
Infection-related (%)	15 (8.2 %)	5 (11.1 %)	0.340
Bowel-ischemia related (% )	2 (1.1 %)	0 (0 %)	0.477
Renal-artery related (% )	12 (6.6 %)	2 (4.4 %)	0.866



Figure 10 - Freedom from reinterventions for asymptomatic (blue) and symptomatic (red) patients respectively

Endoleak (type I/III) Freedom (figure 11) was similar between asymptomatic and symptomatic patients for both events of primary (p = 0.701) and assisted (p = 0.730) endoleak freedom. At 10-years post-operatively, the primary type I/III endoleak freedom was 78 ± 4 % for asymptomatic patients and 83 ± 6 % for symptomatic patients; while for assisted type I/III endoleak freedom, the rates were 91 ± 2 % and 94 ± 2 %, respectively.



Figure 11 – Primary and assisted Type I/III endoleak freedoms for asymptomatic (blue) and symptomatic (red) patients respectively

#### Clinical success, overall and Late AAA-related mortality

Primary, assisted and secondary clinical success rates (figure 12) were higher for asymptomatic versus symptomatic (p = 0.300, 0.023 and 0.099, respectively) patients. At 10-years, asymptomatic versus symptomatic success rates were  $58 \pm 3$  % versus  $54 \pm 6$  % (primary);  $72 \pm 3$  % versus  $64 \pm 6$  % (assisted) and  $78 \pm 2$  % versus  $70 \pm 5$  % (secondary), respectively.



Figure 12 – Primary, assisted and secondary clinical success for asymptomatic (blue) and symptomatic (red) patients respectively

Persistent clinical failures were managed as per table 5. The main causes for nonintervention were presence of clinical unfitness (50.6 % in asymptomatic versus 38.1 % in symptomatic). A proportion of patients (26.0 % asymptomatic versus 19.0 % symptomatic) had findings which were consistent with clinical failure yet deemed clinically insignificant by the treating attending surgeon. No AAA-related mortality occurred in this subgroup of patients.

Table 5 - Management and cause of persistent clinical failures in both asymptomatic and symptomatic group

Group Cause for persistent failure	Asymptomatic (N = 77)	Symptomatic (N = 21)
Clinical unfitness	39 (50.6 %)	8 (38.1 %)
Conservative due to clinically insignificant failure	20 (26.0 %)	4 (19.0 %)
Open conversion	5 (6.5 %)	4 (19.0 %)
Failure discovered incidentally during study review	4 (5.2 %)	3 (14.3 %)
Other causes	4 (5.2 %) *	2 (9.5 %) **

\*For **asymptomatic** patients, other causes included planned reintervention yet patient died of non-AAA cause (3 patients, 3.9 %); planned for reintervention with patient alive (1 patient, 1.3 %).\*\*For **symptomatic** patients, other causes included patient refusing intervention (1 patients, 4.8 %); planned reintervention yet patient died of AAA-related cause (rupture during the waiting period) (1 patients, 4.8 %).

Overall survival was, at 10-years post-operatively,  $32 \pm 2$  % and  $37 \pm 4$  % for the asymptomatic and symptomatic patients (p = 0.687), respectively. Freedom from AAA-related death was  $94 \pm 2$  % and  $90 \pm 3$  % for asymptomatic and symptomatic patients, respectively (p = 0.016). When 30-day mortality was excluded from the aforementioned analysis, no difference (p = 0.918) was present with regards to freedom late AAA-related deaths (figure 13).



Figure 13 – overall mortality (A), and freedom from AAA-related deaths (B) for asymptomatic (blue) and symptomatic (red) patients, respectively.

\*When 30-day mortality is excluded, p = 0.918

#### **Outcomes based on aortic neck-length**

Of 680 patients, 554 (81.5 %) had pre-operative imaging where neck-length estimation could take place, of which 438 (85.6 %) were asymptomatic and 116 (84.7 %) had symptomatic presentation. Some 375 (85.6 %) asymptomatic and 93 (80.2 %) symptomatic patients had aneurysm necks > 15 mm (p = 0.152). Adequate necks yielded higher proportion of primary, assisted and secondary clinical success along with higher proportions of type I/III endoleak freedom (p < 0.0001). In addition, longer necks conferred higher overall survival (p = 0.009) and higher freedom from late AAA-related mortality (p = 0.009).

Project 3

#### General characteristics and intra-operative proximal seal

During the inclusion period (1998 – 2012), 125 patients were treated with intraoperative Palmaz stent placement for a type Ia endoleak during EVAR for infrarenal AAA and therefore included. The majority (N = 83; 66 %) were asymptomatic at presentation, while the remainder presented acutely, either as non-ruptured yet symptomatic (N = 20; 16 %) or ruptured AAAs (N = 22; 18 %). Cook-Zenith stentgrafts were used in 123 (98.4 %) patients.

Intra-operatively, 101 (80.8 %) patients had a successful intra-operative proximal seal, while 24 (19.2 %) had failed proximal seal in spite of Palmaz stent placement. of patients with successful intra-operative seal, 81/101 (80.2 %) had persistent seal, while of those with failed intra-operative seal, 15/24 (62.5 %) had spontaneous seal on follow-up CTA (Figure 14).



**Figure 14** - Occurrence of type Ia endoleak in the cohort. Of the 24 patient with intra-operative persistent endoleak there was a spontaneous seal in the majority (15 patients, of which one had spontaneous seal after the first CTA), six patients had no follow-up available, of which there were three patients with 30-day mortality. One patient had a successful re-intervention. The remaining 2 underwent re-interventions that were not successful (1 type Ia Endoleak embolization and 1 PTA of the Palmaz stent), In summary, of the 18 patients with available follow-up there were persistent endoleaks in 2 patients (in spite of re-interventions), sealing post successful re-intervention in one patient and recurring endoleak in no patients. Moreover, AAA expanded in 2 of these 18 patients. The reasons for "No FU" for the patients with successful intra-operative seal were 6 patients who had 30 day-mortality and 7 patients with no imaging.

#### **Outcomes of Type Ia endoleak**

Post-operatively, for all patients treated, at 10-years, primary type Ia endoleak freedom was  $74 \pm 8$  %, increasing for assisted type Ia freedom up to  $80 \pm 7$  %. When the end-point was divided between elective and acute cases, elective patients (with regards to "crude" rates) had slightly higher primary (p = 0.066) and assisted (p = 0.145) type Ia endoleak freedom, albeit not statistically significant. In addition, when "relative" rates were considered, elective patients had yet again higher primary (p = 0.025) and assisted (p = 0.063) type Ia endoleak freedom, when compared to the acute patients.

#### Anatomical overview at the aortic neck and AAA

There was a significant change (p < 0.05) of diameter at all levels of comparisons (except for AAA sac when comparing pre-operative CTA to 1<sup>st</sup> post-operative CTA. The largest increase in diameter was present at the level of lowest renal artery and 9 mm below the lowest renal, specifically when comparing pre-operative CTA to last post-operative CTA, where 65 % of the patients with available imaging had significant expansion at lowest renal level and 68 % of them at 9 mm below lowest renal. With regards to treated AAA, 16/91 (18 %) with at least 2 post-operative CTAs had significant AAA expansion, of which 5/16 (31 %) suffered expansion due to a post-operative type Ia endoleak (table 6).

Level of measurement in aorta	Preop diam (mm)	Comparison Preop – 1stComparisonpostoplast po(n = 96)(n = 80)		Comparison Preop – last postop (n = 80)		Comparison 1 <sup>st</sup> postop – last postop (n = 91)	
		∆ median (mm)	N (%) patients	∆ median (mm)	N (%) patients	∆ median (mm)	N (%) patients
СТ	25 (23-28)	0 (-1 - +1)	4/96 (4%)	+1 (0 - +3)	17/80 (21%)	+1 (0 - +2)	15/91 (16%)
SMA	25 (22-27)	+1 (0 - +2)	4/96 (4%)	+1 (0 - +3)	15/80 (19%)	+1 (0 - +2)	12/91 (13%)
Renal	24 (22-27)	+2 (0 - +3)	23/96 (24%)	+5 (+2 - +7)	52/80 (65%)	+2 (+1 - +5)	34/91 (37%)
9 mm	25 (23-30)	+2 (0 - +4)	32/96 (33%)	+5 (+3 - +8)	54/80 (68 %)	+3 (+1 - +5)	30/91 (33%)
AAA	63 (55-75)	0 (-3 - +2)	9/96 (9%)	-8 (-17 – 0)	14/80 (18%)	-5 (-14 - +1)	16/91 (18%)

**Table 6** – aortic diameter changes ( $\Delta$ ) at levels of Celiac Trunk (CT), Superior mesenteric artery (SMA), lowest renal (renal), 9 mm below lowest renal (9 mm) and AAA (aneurysm)

### Project 4

#### **General characteristics**

Given the strict inclusion criteria, 81 patients were included, of which 64 patients (79%) were treated with infrarenal EVAR and 17 (21%) were treated using FEVAR devices (all Cook-Zenith devices). Of the patients treated with EVAR, 42 (52%) were within the IFU. Shorter follow-up duration (p < 0.001) was present in the groups treated with infrarenal EVAR (median  $\approx$  48 months) versus those treated with FEVAR (median  $\approx$  84 months). The majority (13/17) of FEVAR patients had exclusively renal fenestrations. Oversizing > 30% was more common (p = 0.01) in patients outside IFU receiving infrarenal EVAR.

#### Early post-operative anatomical changes

A higher proportion of expansion  $\geq 4$  mm was present in the visceral segment in patients undergoing FEVAR and "non-IFU" EVAR (p = 0.210 and 0.061 at TC and SMA, respectively), when compared to infrarenal EVAR within IFU. This was also true at the level of renal arteries (p = 0.029 and 0.068 at RRA and LRA, respectively). However, infrarenally,  $\geq 4$  mm expansion was present in all three comparison, albeit more common in patients undergoing EVAR within the IFU versus those undergoing EVAR outside IFU and FEVAR (p = 1.000, 0.406 and 0.026 at 5-, 10-, and 15-mm below lowest renal). Table 7 illustrates proportion of expansion in the early and late phase for each treatment group.

Oversizing > 30 % did not seem to have an effect on expansion (p > 0.05) at all levels of measurements except 15-mm below lowest renal (p = 0.049), where patients with such oversizing had a tendency towards higher rate of expansion early in the follow-up.

**Table 7** – proportion of patients having  $\geq$  4 mm expansion in the early (up to 1-year follow-up), and late (from 1-year standard CTA), stratified by treatment group

Level	Expansion proportion (Infrarenal EVAR with <b>favourable</b> anatomy, N=42)		Expansion proportion (Infrarenal EVAR with <b>unfavourable</b> anatomy, N=22)		Expansion proportion (FEVAR, N=17)	
	Early	Late	Early	Late	Early	Late
5 cm over TC	0/42	2/42	0/22	0/22	0/17	2/17
тс	0/42	4/42	0/22	0/22	1/17	3/17
SMA	0/42	2/42	1/22	1/22	2/17	4/17
RRA	2/42	3/42	2/22	4/22	5/17	8/17
LRA	3/42	7/42	4/22	2/22	5/17	6/17
5 mm below lowest renal	13/42	7/42	6/22	3/22	5/17	5/17
10 mm below lowest renal	15/42	9/42	6/22	5/22	3/17	6/17
15 mm below lowest renal	18/42	11/42	4/22	2/22	2/17	3/17

#### Long-term post-operative anatomical changes

At the long-term, comparing 1-year post-operative CTA to consecutive postoperative CTAs, expansion  $\geq 4$  mm was as common in all groups (p > 0.05), albeit a tendency towards higher expansion rates was present 15-mm below lowest renal (p = 0.076), for patients undergoing infrarenal EVAR within IFU (figure 15). Table 8 illustrates the rates of freedom from expansion for the different treatment groups.



**Figure 15** – Kaplan – Meier curves for expansion to  $\ge 4$  mm in diameter. Blue line illustrates patients within IFU (favorable neck) undergoing infrarenal EVAR, red line for patients outside IFU (unfavorable neck) undergoing infrarenal EVAR and green line for patients undergoing FEVAR

**Table 8** – Estimates of freedom from expansion ( $\geq$  4 mm) 3 years after 1-year CTA ie approximately 4 years follow-up.FEVAR have also 5-year estimates considering the longer follow-up. Early expansion has been disregarded to analyzeisolated late disease progression. Values are estimates in % ± \*standard error.

Level	Infrarenal EVAR with <b>favourable</b> anatomy (% ± SE*)	Infrarenal EVAR with <b>unfavourable</b> anatomy (% ± SE*)	FEVAR (3 years, (% ± SE*))	FEVAR (5 years, (% ± SE*))
5 cm over TC	96 ± 4	100 ± 0	100 ± 0	92 ± 8
тс	96 ± 4	100 ± 0	94 ± 6	87 ± 9
SMA	96 ± 4	100 ± 0	100 ± 0	86 ± 9
RRA	100 ± 0	92 ± 7	94 ± 6	67 ± 12
LRA	96 ± 4	93 ± 7	100 ± 0	77 ± 12
5 mm below lowest renal	90 ± 5	87 ± 9	88 ± 8	88 ± 8
10 mm below lowest renal	86 ± 7	80 ± 10	76 ± 10	69 ± 12
15 mm below lowest renal	81 ± 7	93 ± 7	88 ± 8	88 ± 8

No differences (p > 0.05) were present in (late) expansion rates between patients who had oversizing > 30 % versus those who had  $\leq$  30 % oversizing, at all levels of comparison.

### Project 5

#### **General characteristics**

Some 404 patients were included, treated for both infrarenal EVAR and FEVAR, while 247 (37.9 %) were excluded. Most common cause of exclusion was the absence of non-contrast CT images (129 patients; 52.2 % of excluded). No difference in survival (p = 0.33) was found between included and excluded patients. No differences between EVAR (N= 310) and FEVAR (N= 94) were present, except that EVAR patients were older (p = 0.018), had less COPD (p = 0.03) and less ACE-I prescribed (p < 0.001). For the entire cohort, calcium score was 8384 (IQR 3830 – 14179). No differences in calcium score (p = 0.367) was present between EVAR and FEVAR patients.

#### Survival - overall and freedom from cardiac mortality

Ten-year overall survival was  $44 \pm 6$  % for patients in Q1 (first quartile of calcium score) versus Q2-4 (remaining quartiles 2 through 4) was  $34 \pm 4$  % (p = 0.01), respectively. At ten years post-operatively, freedom from cardiac-related events, for Q1 versus Q2-4, was  $89 \pm 4$  % and  $74 \pm 6$  % (p = 0.033), respectively (figure 16).



Figure 16 – overall survival (A), and freedom from cardiac-related deaths (B) for Q1 (Green) and Q2-Q4 (Blue) patients, respectively.

#### **Regression analyses**

Ilio-femoral calcium score (in thousands) was put in a univariate logistic regression with pre-operative patient characteristics. This did not retain significance for the event of overall mortality (table 9; OR 1.016(0.988 - 1.045)) nor for freedom from cardiac-related deaths (table 10; OR 1.024(0.986 - 1.063)). Due to the aforementioned lack of significance, Multivariate regression analyses was not undertaken.

 $\label{eq:table 9 - Odds ratio (OR) based on univariate logistic regression, along with confidence intervals (CI) for all-cause mortality$ 

Characteristic	OR	CI 95%	P-value
Male gender	0.670	0.348 – 1.289	0.230
Age At operation (years)	1.116	1.076 – 1.158	<0.001
Hypertension	0.590	0.288 – 1.210	0.150
Smoking	0.694	0.287 – 1.676	0.417
Cardiac disease	1.240	0.780 – 1.970	0.363
Hyperlipidaemia	0.872	0.541 – 1.405	0.573
Diabetes	1.344	0.753 – 2.400	0.317
PAD	0.762	0.475 – 1.224	0.261
COPD	2.353	1.439 – 3.847	0.001
Pre-Operative AAA diameter (mm)	0.990	0.970 – 1.011	0.348
Calcium score (in thousands)	1.016	0.988 – 1.045	0.268
Creatinemia > 105 μmol/L	2.056	1.280 – 3.303	0.003

Table 10 - Odds ratio (OR) based on univariate logistic regression, along with confidence intervals (CI) for freedom from cardiac-related deaths

Characteristic	OR	CI 95%	P-value
Male gender	0.862	0.312 – 2.382	0.862
Age At operation (years)	1.040	0.987 – 1.095	0.140
Hypertension	0.663	0.239 – 1.836	0.429
Smoking	0.353	0.121 – 1.029	0.056
Cardiac disease	2.376	1.174 – 4.812	0.016
Hyperlipidaemia	0.760	0.373 – 1.545	0.448
Diabetes	1.404	0.634 – 3.107	0.403
PAD	1.174	0.593 – 2.326	0.646
COPD	0.853	0.431 – 1.691	0.649
Pre-Operative AAA diameter (mm)	1.004	0.975 – 1.035	0.780
Calcium score (in thousands)	1.024	0.986 – 1.063	0.222
Creatinemia > 105 µmol/L	5.878	2.888 – 11.961	<0.001

### Discussion

### Long-term EVAR outcomes

Long-term outcomes of standard, infrarenal EVAR were presented in projects 1 and 2 in detail, with focus on type Ia endoleak outcomes in project 3. Operative (30-day) mortality was similar to previous reports with regards to elective repair<sup>131-135</sup>, being under 2 %. However, and albeit symptomatic AAAs comprise higher peri-operative mortality rates than elective cases,<sup>136</sup> statistical significance was not achieved in most previous studies.<sup>137-138</sup> while project 2 demonstrated an almost guadrupled early mortality in the symptomatic cohort as compared to asymptomatic cases. This difference may be due to presence of the age difference where patients included in project 2 were, when comparing median age, 3 - 5 years younger than previously cited studies. In spite of this, the asymptomatic and symptomatic patients having 30-day mortality had similar range of age at operation - Range 65 - 87 versus 68 -85 years, respectively – and therefore it is actually possible that other factors, other than age, may contribute to this early mortality difference. Yet another potential cause for this early mortality difference is the short time available to medically optimise the patients presenting symptomatically. This, in effect, may cause symptomatic patients becoming poorer surgical candidates, yielding in effect higher early mortality. More cautious pre-, peri- and post-operative monitoring of these patients is therefore necessary.

Given the objective of trying to find as standardised a measure as possible for procedural success, pre-defined technical and clinical success were used as defined per the reporting standards by Chaikof *et al.* However, these binary outcomes, essentially a composite of different outcomes, may be somewhat an over-simplification in real life. For example, should an intra-operatively uncorrected, minimal type Ia endoleak, generally considered a "malignant" feature, deem an EVAR procedure a technical failure if it has spontaneously thrombosed at first post-operative CTA? In addition, should a type II endoleak causing 6 mm expansion be considered a clinical failure? Clinical decision making, with regards mainly to the potential role of conservative yet watchful approach in certain patients, was present in our cohort. About 22 % of all persistent clinical failures (both asymptomatic and symptomatic) were deemed to be having findings that did not justify intervention but instead follow-up, with no aneurysm-related mortality in that subgroup, which may suggest a role for both radiological (as per current guidelines) and pragmatic

clinical decision<sup>139</sup> making in the "synthesis" of the overall clinical success outcome. The newest European guidelines<sup>140</sup> suggest post-operative AAA expansion  $\geq 10$  mm be deemed significant growth with potential gain from reintervention, which adds further justification to the premise of delaying intervention and potential consideration of some failure cases to be considered as continued success. To add more, the potential for customised follow-up programmes, which take into account (amongst other factors) pre-operative patient anatomy and type of repair performed, may be further explored. This is mainly due to current follow-up programmes are established based on general guidelines.

The bulk of re-interventions were due to distal causes, mainly due to placement of stents for e.g limb stenosis or occlusion, with a few cases of persistent distal failures. This fact suggest the good success achieved with distal re-interventions given the few persistent failures with regards with this specific failure mode. Furthermore, freedom from re-intervention at 72 % 10-years post-operatively suggest, in part, good durability for the initial repair given the highly acceptable  $\approx 80$  % secondary success rate (higher if broader success definition used), along with heightened degree of unfitness in the treated population, given that 40 - 50 % of persistent failures were deemed unfit for further treatment. This is on par with previous series<sup>141</sup>.

Long-term survival was, in this patient cohort, similar for asymptomatic and symptomatic cases alike. Previous studies<sup>136-138</sup> have suggested a difference in long-term mortality between the two groups, with symptomatic patients exhibiting lower survival. However, these studies usually compared a bulk of patients undergoing both EVAR and open repair, making them not entirely comparable to the setting presented in this thesis. AAA-related mortality was relatively low, when disregarding the early mortality. This suggests that EVAR has reached its ultimate goal in the majority of patients treated.

In this cohort, patients (both symptomatic and asymptomatic) who had unfavourable anatomy had lower rates of success and endoleak-freedom with higher overall and AAA-specific mortality, for both asymptomatic and symptomatic cases. This is in line with other previous publications where treatment outside IFU was associated with graft failure and increased endoleak rates.<sup>57</sup> However, a few studies suggest extremes of no impact of IFU adherence on outcome<sup>142</sup>, while other suggest, along with aforementioned differences, increased mortality<sup>143</sup> as well. In this cohort, a single graft (and therefore single IFU) was considered, unlike aforementioned studies. This should, realistically, yield more uniform results, with lessened risk of selection bias.

Intra-operatively, a fairly large proportion of patients ( $\approx 25$  %) required adjuncts to aid proximal seal. This may be due to the treatment of a fairly large ( $\approx 15 - 20$  % as per available images) proportion of patients outside IFU. In addition, given the long time span of the study, potential underestimation of the proportion of patients treated "Off-IFU" may exist. This is related to poor pre-operative imaging (especially in the early portion of the study), along with the unavailability of FEVAR during the same early period (pre-2004), causing patients to be treated with suboptimal mode of repair. Good intra-operative seal was achieved for Palmaz stents, the most commonly used proximal adjunct in the cohort.

Type Ia endoleaks were an uncommon cause of re-intervention, suggesting good primary seal. However, type Ia endoleak were the cause of persistent failure in  $\approx 20$  % of failed cases. In spite of this, and especially for patients with favourable anatomy, good seal was ensured post-operatively given the high endoleak freedom rates. To add more, assisted freedom for patients with unfavourable anatomy was similar to the primary freedom, suggesting re-interventions utilised were not achieving their intended purpose in that cohort of patients. Furthermore, patients treated electively with Palmaz stents had similar type Ia outcomes to those treated acutely, illustrating the need of performing as proper repair as possible from the index procedure, by treating patients outside IFU with e.g FEVAR to ensure improved seal. Therefore, usage of "off-IFU" EVAR for cases should be reserved to urgent cases is more appropriate. If any subsequent intra-operative type Ia endoleak is then present, it may be treated using Palmaz stents or other methods, e.g intra-operative endoachors, which are currently employed on a larger scale with promising results.<sup>64,65,144</sup>

### Disease progression

During EVAR (and FEVAR) follow-up, supra-visceral and visceral aortic exhibited little significant dilatation, both for short- and long-term analyses. This may be attributed to the fact that graft material is not having apposition to those segments, for both EVAR and FEVAR cases, given that the majority of FEVAR patients essentially had renal fenestrations, thus having no visceral and supra-visceral "graft to aortic wall" apposition. The aforementioned data gives credence to the notion of outward radial pressure exerted on the aortic wall by the graft being the cause of neck dilatation post-EVAR,<sup>145,146</sup> given the bulk of the expansion occurring at the level of renal arteries and below that.

Late expansion seems to occur more frequently at the 15-mm below lowest renal level (albeit lower rate for FEVAR/EVAR with unfavourable anatomy). This latter fact may suggest that expansion start closest to the AAA and then proceeds proximally, which may be due to disease activity closest to the degenerative AAA-wall along making the aorta at that location more susceptible to radial pressure exerted on aorta by the graft with subsequent expansion. In spite of this, patients treated with FEVAR/EVAR with unfavourable anatomy had lower rate of expansion at the same level, which may suggest that the expansive effect of (self-expanding) graft apposition to the aortic wall should be considered as cause of expansion.

### **Risk stratification**

Low ilio-femoral calcium score was associated with higher survival and freedom from cardiac events in survival analyses. However, this association was ameliorated when other pre-operative patient characteristics were included in the model, suggesting dependence of calcium score on other factors to achieve the aforementioned result. Other studies have suggested the presence of association of either aneurysm calcium score<sup>147</sup> or a simplified, X-Ray based calcium score<sup>123</sup> in the aorto-iliac segment with survival.

Ilio-femoral calcium score may, however, not be a marker of coronary disease by itself, yet may reflect its presence. Previous studies<sup>148</sup> suggests the strong association of ilio-femoral calcium with coronary calcium, albeit the absence of coronary calcium does not exclude ilio-femoral calcification. This, in effect, suggests the presence of iliac calcification prior to coronary calcification.

## Limitations

The main limitation of this thesis compilation is the (retrospective) inclusion of patients treated exclusively at a single-center and therefore elevated risk of selection bias. However, this was necessary to access data that could be internally verified, and ensure the potential for analysing specific outcomes that are not obtainable through registries e.g re-intervention causes and modes of failure.

Yet another methodological limitation with regards to this thesis project was the usage of one set point as reference (lowest renal artery) for estimating percentage oversizing. This is especially true for the cases treated with FEVAR, given that the fenestrated endografts usually have variable diameters due to graft tapering and, therefore, variable apposition to the aortic wall. A potentially more suitable method for estimation of oversizing in this population is to do so at every measurement level (e.g % oversizing at SMA, RRA et cetera).

The usage of Agatston method for estimation of the ilio-femoral calcium score has its limitations as well. The method was initially validated for use on ECG-gated 3 mm Non-contrast CT slices, while the images used for ilio-femoral calcium estimation in project 4 were in both 3- and 5-mm slices. Three-mm slices give consistently larger scores<sup>149</sup> when compared to 5-mm slices in the aorta, therefore there is a risk of underestimating calcium score in our population.

# Conclusions

- Long-term outcomes with EVAR of AAA are sustainable, especially if the implanted device is placed in aorta with adequate anatomy (**project 1**).
- Results of EVAR for asymptomatic and symptomatic AAAs are similar with regards to long-term outcomes. However, elevated early mortality is found for symptomatic patients, suggesting the need for more intensive monitoring of treated patients (**project 2**).
- Intra-operative treatment of type Ia endoleak with Palmaz stents yields good intra- and post-operative results. However, this should be restricted to patients presenting acutely (**project 3**).
- Aortic expansion beyond the sealing zone is relatively uncommon, and seems related to the force exerted on the aortic wall by the endograft (project 4)
- Ilio-femoral calcium score may predict long-term overall and cardiac mortality after EVAR. However, further studies are needed to establish this relation (**project 5**).

## Future perspectives

The potential for customised, patient-specific follow-up schemes post-EVAR have not been extensively studied. This is necessary given the increased application of EVAR for AAA treatment for both extremes of patients: those young and fit enough to undergo either EVAR or open surgery and those with elevated risk and age.

Given the elevated rate of pre-existing cardiac disease in patients undergoing EVAR, the potential for studying the relation between ilio-femoral and coronary calcium score in this population is immense, especially given the already established and accepted usage of coronary calcium score in the predicting of coronary disease. Another potential for ilio-femoral calcium score to be studied is if it can predict potential for (percutaneous) access-related complications during EVAR, and if a potential cut-off which would predict occurring of access-closure complications.

# Acknowledgements

I thank God The Almighty for allowing me to finish this thesis project.

**Prophet Mohammed** (Peace be upon him) said: "he who does not thank people is not thankful to God".

Therefore, I would like to thank the following people who have made this thesis project possible:

Associate professor **Nuno V. Dias**, my main supervisor, for being the necessary professional support to complete this endeavour. Your knowledge and drive were the main factors that allowed this thesis to reach completion. Thank you for always being there when most needed, and for allowing me to be your student, in spite of my many shortcomings.

Associate professor **Timothy Resch**, my co-supervisor and previous boss, for your priceless guidance and for allowing me to work at the department.

Associate professor **Björn Sonesson**, my other co-supervisor, for providing focused and honest feedback whenever possible.

My co-authors for their enriching input.

My colleagues at the vascular centre and during my rotations through the foundation programme, for their support.

My friends, for being good friends and for their support.

My family, especially my parents, for always being there since day 1.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Bukaortaaneurysm (AAA) är vidgning av stora kroppspulsådern (aorta) i buken som förekommer oftast under njurpulsåderna i (oftast) äldre, rökande män. Denna vidgningen orsakar kärlväggs svaghet och kan därefter orsaka bristning, vilket kan leda till död. Sjukdomen är dock, till sin natur, oftast tyst och ger sällan symtom. Därför har det, i Sverige, skapats undersökningsprogram (screening) för att, med hjälp av ultraljud, hitta sjukdomen i högrisk gruppen äldre män, innan AAA spricker och behandla denna i skyddande syfte när den når cirka 5.5 cm. Behandlingen utgjordes tidigare av öppen teknik, men denna har ersatts till större utsträckning av s.k endovaskulär aorta reparation (EVAR). Denna senare teknik innebär införandet av ett kärlprotes via ljumsken och därefter utfällning (lite som en paraply) av protesen på insidan av AAA vilket leder bort blod från den svaga kärlväggen och igenom kärlprotesens insida. Denna kärlprotesen fäster oftast i en område nedom niurpulsåderna, s.k halsen. Vissa komplikationer kan ske vid behandling av AAA med EVAR, bland annat blodtillförsel från den övre änden där kärlprotesen fäster (dvs halsen), s.k typ Ia endoläckage, som kan orsaka AAA vidgning och bristning i senare skede, trots kärlprotesens befintlighet.

Långtidsresultaten av denna tekniken är studerade dock oftast inte i detalj, främst i avseende av behandlingens succé. Dessutom så är dessa resultaten oftast redovisade för patienter som behandlats elektivt alternativ för en brustet AAA, och mer sällsynt redovisas dessa resultat för patienterna som hade symtom (exempelvis buksmärtor) utan kärlbristning. Typ Ia endoläckage, en fruktad komplikation till ingreppet, kan behandlas med införandet av icke-täckta metallnät som håller kärlprotesen an mot kärlväggen och ger den bättre fästning. Aneurysmsjukdom kan sprida sig till andra delar av kroppspulsådern, och inte bara befinna sig i bukpulsådern. Kärlförkalkningar i olika kärl i kroppen, speciellt koronarkärlen (kärl som försörjer hjärtat) har visat samband med förekomsten av hjärtinfarkt.

Således var målen med avhandlingen följande:

- Undersöka långtidsresultaten av EVAR ingrepp i elektivt skede
- Undersöka resultaten av EVAR hos patienter som presenterar med symtomgivande AAA och jämföra de till elektivt behandlade patienter
- Undersöka resultaten av behandling av typ Ia endoläckage som upptäckts under EVAR ingrepp med icke-täckta metallnät

- Undersöka om kärlvidgningen bortom bukpulsådern förekommer efter EVAR ingrepp
- Undersöka om kärlförkalkningar i bäckenkärlen kan förutspå dödlighet efter EVAR

Sammanfattningsvis så visar EVAR goda resultat med behandlingssuccé uppemot 80 % tio år efter ingreppet. Dödligheten pga. ingreppet är dock högre i patienter som presenterar med symtom jämfört med de som behandlas elektivt. Icke-täckta metallnät fungerar som behandling mot typ Ia endoläckage som upptäcks under ingreppet, dock är detta oftast bättre begränsad till patienter som presenterar akut med AAA (exempelvis de med kärlbristning alternativ symtom). Kärlvidgning bortom bukpulsådern förekommer men är hyfsad ovanligt, och brukar ske kring halsregionen och kring områden där kärlprotesen har direkt kontakt mot kärlväggen. Låg andel av kärlförkalkningar i bäckenkärlen kan förutspå lägre dödlighet efter EVAR, dock är skillnaden i dödlighet mellan de med låg och högre andel kärlförkalkningar minimal.

## References

- 1. Mosby's Dictionary of Medicine, Nursing & Health Professions Seventh edition 2272 Mosby 9780723433934 0723433933. Nurs Stand. 2006;20(22):36.
- 2. Hughes AM. Oxford English Dictionary. Isis. 2008;99(3):586.
- 3. Mulligan-Kehoe MJ, Simons M. Vasa vasorum in normal and diseased arteries. Circulation. 2014;129(24):2557-66.
- 4. Mathur A, Mohan V, Ameta D, Gaurav B, Haranahalli P. Aortic aneurysm. J Transl Int Med. 2016;4(1):35-41.
- 5. Aggarwal S, Qamar A, Sharma V, Sharma A. Abdominal aortic aneurysm: A comprehensive review. Exp Clin Cardiol. 2011;16(1):11-5.
- Force USPST, Owens DK, Davidson KW, Krist AH, Barry MJ, Cabana M, et al. Screening for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA. 2019;322(22):2211-8.
- 7. Lilja F, Wanhainen A, Mani K. Changes in abdominal aortic aneurysm epidemiology. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino). 2017;58(6):848-53.
- 8. Persson SE, Boman K, Wanhainen A, Carlberg B, Arnerlov C. Decreasing prevalence of abdominal aortic aneurysm and changes in cardiovascular risk factors. J Vasc Surg. 2017;65(3):651-8.
- Fink HA, Lederle FA, Roth CS, Bowles CA, Nelson DB, Haas MA. The accuracy of physical examination to detect abdominal aortic aneurysm. Arch Intern Med. 2000;160(6):833-6.
- Hardy DC, Lee JK, Weyman PJ, Melson GL. Measurement of the abdominal aortic aneurysm. Plain radiographic and ultrasonographic correlation. Radiology. 1981;141(3):821-3.
- Biancari F, Paone R, Venermo M, D'Andrea V, Perala J. Diagnostic accuracy of computed tomography in patients with suspected abdominal aortic aneurysm rupture. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2013;45(3):227-30.
- 12. Rakita D, Newatia A, Hines JJ, Siegel DN, Friedman B. Spectrum of CT findings in rupture and impending rupture of abdominal aortic aneurysms. Radiographics. 2007;27(2):497-507.
- Lamah M, Darke S. Value of routine computed tomography in the preoperative assessment of abdominal aneurysm replacement. World J Surg. 1999;23(10):1076-80; discussion 80-1.
- 14. Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Computed tomography--an increasing source of radiation exposure. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(22):2277-84.

- Chaudhury P, Armanyous S, Harb SC, Ferreira Provenzano L, Ashour T, Jolly SE, et al. Intra-Arterial versus Intravenous Contrast and Renal Injury in Chronic Kidney Disease: A Propensity-Matched Analysis. Nephron. 2019;141(1):31-40.
- Singh K, Bonaa KH, Solberg S, Sorlie DG, Bjork L. Intra- and interobserver variability in ultrasound measurements of abdominal aortic diameter. The Tromso Study. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 1998;15(6):497-504.
- 17. LaRoy LL, Cormier PJ, Matalon TA, Patel SK, Turner DA, Silver B. Imaging of abdominal aortic aneurysms. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 1989;152(4):785-92.
- 18. Medical Advisory S. Ultrasound screening for abdominal aortic aneurysm: an evidence-based analysis. Ont Health Technol Assess Ser. 2006;6(2):1-67.
- Keisler B, Carter C. Abdominal aortic aneurysm. Am Fam Physician. 2015;91(8):538-43.
- 20. Akkersdijk GJ, van Bockel JH. Ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm: initial misdiagnosis and the effect on treatment. Eur J Surg. 1998;164(1):29-34.
- 21. Gawenda M, Brunkwall J. Ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm: the state of play. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2012;109(43):727-32.
- 22. Siddique K, Alvernia J, Fraser K, Lanzino G. Treatment of aneurysms with wires and electricity: a historical overview. J Neurosurg. 2003;99(6):1102-7.
- 23. Cervantes Castro J. [Albert Einstein and his abdominal aortic aneurysm]. Gac Med Mex. 2011;147(1):74-6.
- 24. Blaisdell FW, Hall AD, Thomas AN. Ligation Treatment of an Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Am J Surg. 1965;109:560-5.
- 25. Creech O, Jr. Endo-aneurysmorrhaphy and treatment of aortic aneurysm. Ann Surg. 1966;164(6):935-46.
- 26. Verma H, Mohan S, Tripathi RK. Pantaloon femoral vein graft as "neoaorta" in infected aortic disease. J Vasc Surg. 2015;62(4):1083-8.
- 27. De Bakey ME, Cooley DA, Crawford ES, Morris GC, Jr. Clinical application of a new flexible knitted dacron arterial substitute. Am Surg. 1958;24(12):862-9.
- 28. Evans VL, Hallman GL, Vargo TA, Gutgesell HP. False aneurysm of the ascending aorta from an expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (Gore-Tex) aortopulmonary shunt. Ann Thorac Surg. 1985;39(6):573-5.
- Chiesa R, Tshomba Y, Psacharopulo D, Rinaldi E, Logaldo D, Marone EM, et al. Open repair for infrarenal AAA: technical aspects. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino). 2012;53(1 Suppl 1):119-31.
- 30. Biography of Dr. Nikolay Volodos. J Endovasc Ther. 2013;20 Suppl 1:I25.
- 31. Parodi JC, Palmaz JC, Barone HD. Transfemoral intraluminal graft implantation for abdominal aortic aneurysms. Ann Vasc Surg. 1991;5(6):491-9.
- Hyhlik-Durr A, Bischoff MS, Hakimi M, Von Tengg-Kobligk H, Bockler D. Technical aspects of EVAR for infrarenal AAA. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino). 2012;53(1 Suppl 1):111-8.
- 33. Mendes B, Oderich G, Correa M, Kanamori K. Endovascular Repair of Complex Aortic Pathology. Current Surgery Reports. 2013;1(2):67-77.

- 34. Litwinski RA, Donayre CE, Chow SL, Song TK, Kopchok G, Walot I, et al. The role of aortic neck dilation and elongation in the etiology of stent graft migration after endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair with a passive fixation device. Journal of vascular surgery. 2006;44(6):1176-81.
- 35. Sternbergh WC, 3rd, Money SR, Greenberg RK, Chuter TA, Zenith I. Influence of endograft oversizing on device migration, endoleak, aneurysm shrinkage, and aortic neck dilation: results from the Zenith Multicenter Trial. Journal of vascular surgery. 2004;39(1):20-6.
- 36. van Prehn J, Schlosser FJ, Muhs BE, Verhagen HJ, Moll FL, van Herwaarden JA. Oversizing of aortic stent grafts for abdominal aneurysm repair: a systematic review of the benefits and risks. European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery. 2009;38(1):42-53.
- Stenson K, de Bruin J, Loftus I, Holt P. Migration and sac expansion as modes of midterm therapeutic failure after endovascular aneurysm sealing. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2020;71(2):457-469.e1.
- Rolls AE, Riga CV, Rudarakanchana N, Lee SL, Albayati M, Hamady M, et al. Planning for EVAR: the role of modern software. The Journal of cardiovascular surgery. 2014;55(1):1-7.
- 39. Kazimierczak W, Serafin Z, Kazimierczak N, Ratajczak P, Leszczynski W, Bryl L, et al. Contemporary imaging methods for the follow-up after endovascular abdominal aneurysm repair: a review. Wideochirurgia i inne techniki maloinwazyjne = Videosurgery and other miniinvasive techniques / kwartalnik pod patronatem Sekcji Wideochirurgii TChP oraz Sekcji Chirurgii Bariatrycznej TChP. 2019;14(1):1-11.
- 40. Patel R, Sweeting MJ, Powell JT, Greenhalgh RM, investigators Et. Endovascular versus open repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm in 15-years' follow-up of the UK endovascular aneurysm repair trial 1 (EVAR trial 1): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016;388(10058):2366-74.
- De Bruin JL, Baas AF, Buth J, Prinssen M, Verhoeven EL, Cuypers PW, et al. Long-term outcome of open or endovascular repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm. N Engl J Med. 2010;362(20):1881-9.
- 42. Becquemin JP, Pillet JC, Lescalie F, Sapoval M, Goueffic Y, Lermusiaux P, et al. A randomized controlled trial of endovascular aneurysm repair versus open surgery for abdominal aortic aneurysms in low- to moderate-risk patients. J Vasc Surg. 2011;53(5):1167-73 e1.
- Lederle FA, Kyriakides TC, Stroupe KT, Freischlag JA, Padberg FT, Jr., Matsumura JS, et al. Open versus Endovascular Repair of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. N Engl J Med. 2019;380(22):2126-35.
- 44. Malas M, Arhuidese I, Qazi U, Black J, Perler B, Freischlag JA. Perioperative mortality following repair of abdominal aortic aneurysms: application of a randomized clinical trial to real-world practice using a validated nationwide data set. JAMA Surg. 2014;149(12):1260-5.

- 45. Henriksen NA, Helgstrand F, Vogt KC, Jorgensen LN, Bisgaard T, Danish Hernia D, et al. Risk factors for incisional hernia repair after aortic reconstructive surgery in a nationwide study. J Vasc Surg. 2013;57(6):1524-30, 30 e1-3.
- 46. Siporin K, Hiatt JR, Treiman RL. Small bowel obstruction after abdominal aortic surgery. Am Surg. 1993;59(12):846-9.
- 47. Xiromeritis K, Dalainas I, Stamatakos M, Filis K. Aortoenteric fistulae: presentday management. Int Surg. 2011;96(3):266-73.
- 48. Zarins CK, Bloch DA, Crabtree T, Matsumoto AH, White RA, Fogarty TJ. Stent graft migration after endovascular aneurysm repair: importance of proximal fixation. J Vasc Surg. 2003;38(6):1264-72; discussion 72.
- 49. Rosen RJ, Green RM. Endoleak management following endovascular aneurysm repair. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2008;19(6 Suppl):S37-43.
- 50. Wang G, Zhai S, Li T, Li X, Lu D, Wang B, et al. Limb graft occlusion following endovascular aortic repair: Incidence, causes, treatment and prevention in a study cohort. Exp Ther Med. 2017;14(2):1763-8.
- Cochennec F, Becquemin JP, Desgranges P, Allaire E, Kobeiter H, Roudot-Thoraval F. Limb graft occlusion following EVAR: clinical pattern, outcomes and predictive factors of occurrence. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2007;34(1):59-65.
- 52. Kahlberg A, Rinaldi E, Piffaretti G, Speziale F, Trimarchi S, Bonardelli S, et al. Results from the Multicenter Study on Aortoenteric Fistulization After Stent Grafting of the Abdominal Aorta (MAEFISTO). J Vasc Surg. 2016;64(2):313-20 e1.
- 53. Kassem T. Follow up CT angiography post EVAR: Endoleaks detection, classification and management planning. The Egyptian Journal of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine. 2017;48(3):621-626.
- 54. Dias NV, Resch T, Malina M, Lindblad B, Ivancev K. Intraoperative proximal endoleaks during AAA stent-graft repair: evaluation of risk factors and treatment with Palmaz stents. J Endovasc Ther. 2001;8(3):268-73.
- 55. AbuRahma AF, Hass SM, AbuRahma ZT, Yacoub M, Mousa AY, Abu-Halimah S, et al. Management of Immediate Post-Endovascular Aortic Aneurysm Repair Type Ia Endoleaks and Late Outcomes. J Am Coll Surg. 2017;224(4):740-8.
- 56. Sampaio SM, Panneton JM, Mozes GI, Andrews JC, Bower TC, Karla M, et al. Proximal type I endoleak after endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair: predictive factors. Ann Vasc Surg. 2004;18(6):621-8.
- Oliveira-Pinto J, Oliveira N, Bastos-Goncalves F, Hoeks S, MJ VANR, Ten Raa S, et al. Long-term results of outside "instructions for use" EVAR. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino). 2017;58(2):252-60.
- Millen AM, Osman K, Antoniou GA, McWilliams RG, Brennan JA, Fisher RK. Outcomes of persistent intraoperative type Ia endoleak after standard endovascular aneurysm repair. J Vasc Surg. 2015;61(5):1185-91.
- 59. Parent FN, Meier GH, Godziachvili V, LeSar CJ, Parker FM, Carter KA, et al. The incidence and natural history of type I and II endoleak: a 5-year follow-up assessment with color duplex ultrasound scan. J Vasc Surg. 2002;35(3):474-81.

- 60. Law Y, Chan YC, Cheng SW. Effectiveness of proximal intra-operative salvage Palmaz stent placement for endoleak during endovascular aneurysm repair. Hong Kong Med J. 2016;22(6):538-45.
- 61. Farley SM, Rigberg D, Jimenez JC, Moore W, Quinones-Baldrich W. A retrospective review of Palmaz stenting of the aortic neck for endovascular aneurysm repair. Ann Vasc Surg. 2011;25(6):735-9.
- 62. Arthurs ZM, Lyden SP, Rajani RR, Eagleton MJ, Clair DG. Long-term outcomes of Palmaz stent placement for intraoperative type Ia endoleak during endovascular aneurysm repair. Ann Vasc Surg. 2011;25(1):120-6.
- Rajani RR, Arthurs ZM, Srivastava SD, Lyden SP, Clair DG, Eagleton MJ. Repairing immediate proximal endoleaks during abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. J Vasc Surg. 2011;53(5):1174-7.
- 64. Avci M, Vos JA, Kolvenbach RR, Verhoeven EL, Perdikides T, Resch TA, et al. The use of endoanchors in repair EVAR cases to improve proximal endograft fixation. J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino). 2012;53(4):419-26.
- 65. Perdikides T, Melas N, Lagios K, Saratzis A, Siafakas A, Bountouris I et al. Primary EndoAnchoring in the Endovascular Repair of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms With an Unfavorable Neck. Journal of Endovascular Therapy. 2012;19(6):707-715.
- 66. Bastos Goncalves F, Verhagen HJ, Vasanthananthan K, Zandvoort HJ, Moll FL, van Herwaarden JA. Spontaneous delayed sealing in selected patients with a primary type-Ia endoleak after endovascular aneurysm repair. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2014;48(1):53-9.
- 67. Verhoeven EL, Muhs BE, Zeebregts CJ, Tielliu IF, Prins TR, Bos WT, et al. Fenestrated and branched stent-grafting after previous surgery provides a good alternative to open redo surgery. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg. 2007;33(1):84-90.
- Sveinsson M, Kristmundsson T, Dias N, Sonesson B, Mani K, Wanhainen A, et al. Juxtarenal endovascular therapy with fenestrated and branched stent grafts after previous infrarenal repair. J Vasc Surg. 2019;70(6):1747-53.
- 69. Choi SY, Lee DY, Lee KH, Ko YG, Choi D, Shim WH, et al. Treatment of type I endoleaks after endovascular aneurysm repair of infrarenal abdominal aortic aneurysm: usefulness of N-butyl cyanoacrylate embolization in cases of failed secondary endovascular intervention. J Vasc Interv Radiol. 2011;22(2):155-62.
- Krajcer Z, Dougherty KG, Gregoric ID. Long-term results of aortic banding for complex infrarenal neck anatomy and type I endoleak after endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Tex Heart Inst J. 2012;39(6):799-805.
- Wu Z, Xu L, Qu L, Raithel D. Seventeen years' experience of late open surgical conversion after failed endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair with 13 variant devices. Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol. 2015;38(1):53-9.
- 72. Aziz F, Kuivaniemi H. Role of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in preventing abdominal aortic aneurysm. Ann Vasc Surg. 2007;21(3):392-401.
- 73. Chaer RA, Vasoncelos R, Marone LK, Al-Khoury G, Rhee RY, Cho JS, et al. Synchronous and metachronous thoracic aneurysms in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysms. J Vasc Surg. 2012;56(5):1261-5.

- Diwan A, Sarkar R, Stanley JC, Zelenock GB, Wakefield TW. Incidence of femoral and popliteal artery aneurysms in patients with abdominal aortic aneurysms. J Vasc Surg. 2000;31(5):863-9.
- 75. Guo DC, Papke CL, He R, Milewicz DM. Pathogenesis of thoracic and abdominal aortic aneurysms. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2006;1085:339-52.
- 76. Sonesson B, Resch T, Lanne T, Ivancev K. The fate of the infrarenal aortic neck after open aneurysm surgery. J Vasc Surg. 1998;28(5):889-94.
- Illig KA, Green RM, Ouriel K, Riggs P, Bartos S, DeWeese JA. Fate of the proximal aortic cuff: implications for endovascular aneurysm repair. J Vasc Surg. 1997;26(3):492-9; discussion 9-501.
- Falkensammer J, Oldenburg WA, Biebl M, Hugl B, Hakaim AG, Crook JE, et al. Abdominal aortic aneurysm neck remodeling after open aneurysm repair. J Vasc Surg. 2007;45(5):900-5
- 79. Resch T, Ivancev K, Brunkwall J, Nirhov N, Malina M, Lindblad B. Midterm changes in aortic aneurysm morphology after endovascular repair. J Endovasc Ther. 2000;7(4):279-85.
- Badger SA, O'Donnell M E, Makar RR, Loan W, Lee B, Soong CV. Aortic necks of ruptured abdominal aneurysms dilate more than asymptomatic aneurysms after endovascular repair. J Vasc Surg. 2006;44(2):244-9.
- Diehm N, Hobo R, Baumgartner I, Do DD, Keo HH, Kalka C, et al. Influence of pulmonary status and diabetes mellitus on aortic neck dilatation following endovascular repair of abdominal aortic aneurysms: a EUROSTAR report. J Endovasc Ther. 2007;14(2):122-9.
- Napoli V, Sardella SG, Bargellini I, Petruzzi P, Cioni R, Vignali C, et al. Evaluation of the proximal aortic neck enlargement following endovascular repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm: 3-years experience. Eur Radiol. 2003;13(8):1962-71.
- Dillavou ED, Muluk S, Makaroun MS. Is neck dilatation after endovascular aneurysm repair graft dependent? Results of 4 US Phase II trials. Vasc Endovascular Surg. 2005;39(1):47-54.
- 84. Dalainas I, Nano G, Bianchi P, Ramponi F, Casana R, Malacrida G, et al. Aortic neck dilatation and endograft migration are correlated with self-expanding endografts. J Endovasc Ther. 2007;14(3):318-23.
- 85. Savlovskis J, Krievins D, de Vries JP, Holden A, Kisis K, Gedins M, et al. Aortic neck enlargement after endovascular aneurysm repair using balloon-expandable versus self-expanding endografts. J Vasc Surg. 2015;62(3):541-9.
- Oberhuber A, Buecken M, Hoffmann M, Orend KH, Muhling BM. Comparison of aortic neck dilatation after open and endovascular repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm. J Vasc Surg. 2012;55(4):929-34.
- 87. Cao P, Verzini F, Parlani G, Rango PD, Parente B, Giordano G, et al. Predictive factors and clinical consequences of proximal aortic neck dilatation in 230 patients undergoing abdominal aorta aneurysm repair with self-expandable stent-grafts. J Vasc Surg. 2003;37(6):1200-5.

- Chaikof EL, Blankensteijn JD, Harris PL, White GH, Zarins CK, Bernhard VM, et al. Reporting standards for endovascular aortic aneurysm repair. J Vasc Surg. 2002;35(5):1048-60.
- Dimick JB, Staiger DO, Birkmeyer JD. Are mortality rates for different operations related?: implications for measuring the quality of noncardiac surgery. Med Care. 2006;44(8):774-8.
- 90. Pearse RM, Moreno RP, Bauer P, Pelosi P, Metnitz P, Spies C, et al. Mortality after surgery in Europe: a 7 day cohort study. Lancet. 2012;380(9847):1059-65.
- 91. Mayhew D, Mendonca V, Murthy BVS. A review of ASA physical status historical perspectives and modern developments. Anaesthesia. 2019;74(3):373-9.
- 92. Daabiss M. American Society of Anaesthesiologists physical status classification. Indian J Anaesth. 2011;55(2):111-5.
- Goldman L, Caldera DL, Nussbaum SR, Southwick FS, Krogstad D, Murray B, et al. Multifactorial index of cardiac risk in noncardiac surgical procedures. N Engl J Med. 1977;297(16):845-50.
- 94. Hardman DT, Fisher CM, Patel MI, Neale M, Chambers J, Lane R, et al. Ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysms: who should be offered surgery? J Vasc Surg. 1996;23(1):123-9.
- 95. Chen JC, Hildebrand HD, Salvian AJ, Taylor DC, Strandberg S, Myckatyn TM, et al. Predictors of death in nonruptured and ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysms. J Vasc Surg. 1996;24(4):614-20; discussion 21-3.
- 96. Samy AK, Murray G, MacBain G. Glasgow aneurysm score. Cardiovasc Surg. 1994;2(1):41-4.
- Tambyraja A, Murie J, Chalmers R. Predictors of outcome after abdominal aortic aneurysm rupture: Edinburgh Ruptured Aneurysm Score. World J Surg. 2007;31(11):2243-7.
- 98. Vos CG, de Vries JP, Werson DA, van Dongen EP, Schreve MA, Unlu C. Evaluation of five different aneurysm scoring systems to predict mortality in ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm patients. J Vasc Surg. 2016;64(6):1609-16.
- Reite A, Soreide K, Vetrhus M. Comparing the accuracy of four prognostic scoring systems in patients operated on for ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysms. J Vasc Surg. 2017;65(3):609-15.
- 100. Acheampong D, Guerrier S, Lavarias V, Pechman D, Mills C, Inabnet W, et al. Risk factors contributing to cardiac events following general and vascular surgery. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 2018;33:16-23.
- Schouten O, Bax JJ, Poldermans D. [Coronary risk assessment in the management of patients undergoing noncardiac vascular surgery]. Rev Esp Cardiol. 2007;60(10):1083-91.
- 102. Herman C, Charbonneau P, Hongku K, Dubois L, Hossain S, Lee K et al. Any nonadherence to instructions for use predicts graft-related adverse events in patients undergoing elective endovascular aneurysm repair. Journal of Vascular Surgery. 2018;67(1):126-133.
- 103. AbuRahma AF, Yacoub M, Mousa AY, Abu-Halimah S, Hass SM, Kazil J, et al. Aortic Neck Anatomic Features and Predictors of Outcomes in Endovascular Repair of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms Following vs Not Following Instructions for Use. J Am Coll Surg. 2016;222(4):579-89.
- 104. Abbruzzese TA, Kwolek CJ, Brewster DC, Chung TK, Kang J, Conrad MF, et al. Outcomes following endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair (EVAR): an anatomic and device-specific analysis. Journal of vascular surgery. 2008;48(1):19-28.
- Schanzer A, Greenberg RK, Hevelone N, Robinson WP, Eslami MH, Goldberg RJ, et al. Predictors of abdominal aortic aneurysm sac enlargement after endovascular repair. Circulation. 2011;123(24):2848-55.
- 106. Torsello G, Troisi N, Donas KP, Austermann M. Evaluation of the Endurant stent graft under instructions for use vs off-label conditions for endovascular aortic aneurysm repair. Journal of vascular surgery. 2011;54(2):300-6.
- 107. Peppelenbosch N, Buth J, Harris PL, van Marrewijk C, Fransen G, Collaborators E. Diameter of abdominal aortic aneurysm and outcome of endovascular aneurysm repair: does size matter? A report from EUROSTAR. Journal of vascular surgery. 2004;39(2):288-97.
- 108. Huang Y, Gloviczki P, Duncan AA, Kalra M, Oderich GS, Fleming MD, et al. Maximal aortic diameter affects outcome after endovascular repair of abdominal aortic aneurysms. Journal of vascular surgery. 2017;65(5):1313-22 e4.
- 109. Daye D, Walker TG. Complications of endovascular aneurysm repair of the thoracic and abdominal aorta: evaluation and management. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2018;8(Suppl 1):S138-S56.
- 110. Liu W, Zhang Y, Yu CM, Ji QW, Cai M, Zhao YX, et al. Current understanding of coronary artery calcification. J Geriatr Cardiol. 2015;12(6):668-75.
- 111. Kaur M, Rahimi R, Razali F, Mohd Noor N, Omar E, Abdul Manaf Z, et al. Association of coronary artery calcium score with calcification and degree of stenosis: An autopsy study. Malays J Pathol. 2019;41(2):177-83.
- Bartel AG, Chen JT, Peter RH, Behar VS, Kong Y, Lester RG. The significance of coronary calcification detected by fluoroscopy. A report of 360 patients. Circulation. 1974;49(6):1247-53.
- 113. Frink RJ, Achor RW, Brown AL, Jr., Kincaid OW, Brandenburg RO. Significance of calcification of the coronary arteries. Am J Cardiol. 1970;26(3):241-7.
- 114. Rifkin RD, Parisi AF, Folland E. Coronary calcification in the diagnosis of coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 1979;44(1):141-7.
- 115. Agatston AS, Janowitz WR, Hildner FJ, Zusmer NR, Viamonte M, Jr., Detrano R. Quantification of coronary artery calcium using ultrafast computed tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1990;15(4):827-32.
- Detrano R, Guerci AD, Carr JJ, Bild DE, Burke G, Folsom AR, et al. Coronary calcium as a predictor of coronary events in four racial or ethnic groups. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(13):1336-45.

- 117. Budoff MJ, Young R, Lopez VA, Kronmal RA, Nasir K, Blumenthal RS, et al. Progression of coronary calcium and incident coronary heart disease events: MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(12):1231-9.
- Pletcher M, Tice J, Pignone M, Browner W. Using the Coronary Artery Calcium Score to Predict Coronary Heart Disease Events. Archives of Internal Medicine. 2004;164(12):1285
- 119. Knapper JT, Khosa F, Blaha MJ, Lebeis TA, Kay J, Sandesara PB, et al. Coronary calcium scoring for long-term mortality prediction in patients with and without a family history of coronary disease. Heart. 2016;102(3):204-8.
- 120. Jacobs P, Gondrie M, van der Graaf Y, de Koning H, Isgum I, van Ginneken B et al. Coronary Artery Calcium Can Predict All-Cause Mortality and Cardiovascular Events on Low-Dose CT Screening for Lung Cancer. American Journal of Roentgenology. 2012;198(3):505-511.
- 121. Nakanishi R, Li D, Blaha MJ, Whelton SP, Darabian S, Flores FR, et al. All-cause mortality by age and gender based on coronary artery calcium scores. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17(11):1305-14.
- 122. Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Funck-Brentano C, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. Eur Heart J. 2019.
- 123. TerBush MJ, Rasheed K, Young ZZ, Ellis JL, Glocker RJ, Doyle AJ, et al. Aortoiliac calcification correlates with 5-year survival after abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Journal of vascular surgery. 2019;69(3):774-82.
- 124. Bastos Goncalves F, Voute MT, Hoeks SE, Chonchol MB, Boersma EE, Stolker RJ, et al. Calcification of the abdominal aorta as an independent predictor of cardiovascular events: a meta-analysis. Heart. 2012;98(13):988-94.
- 125. Pencak P, Czerwienska B, Ficek R, Wyskida K, Kujawa-Szewieczek A, Olszanecka-Glinianowicz M, et al. Calcification of coronary arteries and abdominal aorta in relation to traditional and novel risk factors of atherosclerosis in hemodialysis patients. BMC Nephrol. 2013;14:10.
- 126. Jeremias Z, Rat N, Benedek I, Rapolti E, Ratiu M, Muresan A, et al. High iliac calcium score is associated with increased severity and complexity of peripheral arterial disease and predicts global atherosclerotic burden. VASA Zeitschrift fur Gefasskrankheiten. 2018;47(5):377-86.
- 127. Ohtake T, Oka M, Ikee R, Mochida Y, Ishioka K, Moriya H, et al. Impact of lower limbs' arterial calcification on the prevalence and severity of PAD in patients on hemodialysis. Journal of vascular surgery. 2011;53(3):676-83.
- 128. Davis B, Marin D, Hurwitz LM, Ronald J, Ellis MJ, Ravindra KV, et al. Application of a Novel CT-Based Iliac Artery Calcification Scoring System for Predicting Renal Transplant Outcomes. AJR American journal of roentgenology. 2016;206(2):436-41.
- 129. Beck AW, Sedrakyan A, Mao J, Venermo M, Faizer R, Debus S, et al. Variations in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Care: A Report From the International Consortium of Vascular Registries. Circulation. 2016;134(24):1948-58.

- 130. Karthikesalingam A, Grima MJ, Holt PJ, Vidal-Diez A, Thompson MM, Wanhainen A, et al. Comparative analysis of the outcomes of elective abdominal aortic aneurysm repair in England and Sweden. The British journal of surgery. 2018;105(5):520-8.
- 131. Vaaramaki S, Salenius JP, Pimenoff G, Uurto I, Suominen V. Systematic Longterm Follow Up After Endovascular Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Repair With the Zenith Stent Graft. European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery. 2019;58(2):182-8.
- 132. Behrendt CA, Sedrakyan A, Riess HC, Heidemann F, Kolbel T, Petersen J, et al. Short-term and long-term results of endovascular and open repair of abdominal aortic aneurysms in Germany. Journal of vascular surgery. 2017;66(6):1704-11 e3.
- Symonides B, Sliwczynski A, Galazka Z, Pinkas J, Gaciong Z. Short- and longterm survival after open versus endovascular repair of abdominal aortic aneurysm-Polish population analysis. PLoS One. 2018;13(6):e0198966.
- 134. Yin K, Locham SS, Schermerhorn ML, Malas MB. Trends of 30-day mortality and morbidities in endovascular repair of intact abdominal aortic aneurysm during the last decade. Journal of vascular surgery. 2019;69(1):64-73.
- 135. Verzini F, Romano L, Parlani G, Isernia G, Simonte G, Loschi D, et al. Fourteenyear outcomes of abdominal aortic endovascular repair with the Zenith stent graft. Journal of vascular surgery. 2017;65(2):318-29.
- Chandra V, Trang K, Virgin-Downey W, Dalman RL, Mell MW. Long-term outcomes after repair of symptomatic abdominal aortic aneurysms. Journal of vascular surgery. 2018;68(5):1360-6.
- De Martino RR, Nolan BW, Goodney PP, Chang CK, Schanzer A, Cambria R, et al. Outcomes of symptomatic abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Journal of vascular surgery. 2010;52(1):5-12 e1.
- 138. Lijftogt N, Vahl AC, Wilschut ED, Elsman BHP, Amodio S, van Zwet EW, et al. Adjusted Hospital Outcomes of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Surgery Reported in the Dutch Surgical Aneurysm Audit. European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery. 2017;53(4):520-32.
- 139. Boyle JR, Thompson MM, Vallabhaneni SR, Bell RE, Brennan JA, Browne TF, et al. Pragmatic minimum reporting standards for endovascular abdominal aortic aneurysm repair. Journal of endovascular therapy : an official journal of the International Society of Endovascular Specialists. 2011;18(3):263-71.
- 140. Wanhainen A, Verzini F, Van Herzeele I, Allaire E, Bown M, Cohnert T, et al. Editor's Choice - European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS) 2019 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the Management of Abdominal Aorto-iliac Artery Aneurysms. European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery. 2019;57(1):8-93.
- 141. Roos H, Djerf H, Brisby Jeppsson L, Frojd V, Axelsson T, Jeppsson A, et al. Reinterventions after endovascular aortic repair for infrarenal abdominal aneurysms: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2016;16:124.

- 142. Walker J, Tucker LY, Goodney P, Candell L, Hua H, Okuhn S, et al. Adherence to endovascular aortic aneurysm repair device instructions for use guidelines has no impact on outcomes. Journal of vascular surgery. 2015;61(5):1151-9.
- 143. AbuRahma AF, Campbell J, Stone PA, Nanjundappa A, Jain A, Dean LS, et al. The correlation of aortic neck length to early and late outcomes in endovascular aneurysm repair patients. Journal of vascular surgery. 2009;50(4):738-48.
- 144. Ho VT, George EL, Dua A, Lavingia KS, Sgroi MD, Dake MD, et al. Early Real-World Experience with EndoAnchors by Indication. Annals of vascular surgery. 2020;62:30-4.
- 145. Kouvelos GN, Oikonomou K, Antoniou GA, Verhoeven EL, Katsargyris A. A Systematic Review of Proximal Neck Dilatation After Endovascular Repair for Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm. Journal of endovascular therapy : an official journal of the International Society of Endovascular Specialists. 2017;24(1):59-67.
- 146. Georgakarakos E, Argyriou C, Schoretsanitis N, Ioannou CV, Kontopodis N, Morgan R, et al. Geometrical factors influencing the hemodynamic behavior of the AAA stent grafts: essentials for the clinician. Cardiovascular and interventional radiology. 2014;37(6):1420-9.
- 147. Chowdhury MM, Zielinski LP, Sun JJ, Lambracos S, Boyle JR, Harrison SC, et al. Editor's Choice - Calcification of Thoracic and Abdominal Aneurysms is Associated with Mortality and Morbidity. European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery. 2018;55(1):101-8.
- 148. Allam AHA, Thompson RC, Eskander MA, Mandour Ali MA, Sadek A, Rowan CJ, et al. Is coronary calcium scoring too late? Total body arterial calcium burden in patients without known CAD and normal MPI. J Nucl Cardiol. 2018;25(6):1990-8.
- 149. Mori S, Takaya T, Kinugasa M, Ito T, Takamine S, Fujiwara S, et al. Threedimensional quantification and visualization of aortic calcification by multidetector-row computed tomography: a simple approach using a volumerendering method. Atherosclerosis. 2015;239(2):622-8.